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PART |
Item 1. Business of Netlist, Inc.
Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high peréorce memory subsystems for the server, high pediece computing and communications
markets. Our memory subsystems consist of dynaamidam access memory integrated circuits, or DRAKB] KLAND flash memory, or
NAND, and other components assembled on a pririteditboard, or PCB. We also design custom sendaotor logic devices which a
integrated into our memory subsystems in ordent¢oeiase their performance. We engage with ourraigiquipment manufacturer, or OEM,
customers from the earliest stages of new prodefinition, which provides us unique insight intethfull range of system architecture and
performance requirements. This close collaboratmsalso allowed us to develop a significant l@faystems expertise. We leverage a
portfolio of proprietary technologies and desigcht@ques, including efficient planar design, alegive packaging techniques and custom
semiconductor logic, to deliver memory subsysteritk high memory density, small form factor, highrsal integrity, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit.

We were incorporated in Delaware in Jun@2?dnd commenced operations in September 2000.
Memory Products
DRAM Modules

We offer a comprehensive lineup of DRAM J@emory modules utilizing a wide range of DRAMHaologies from legacy Fast
Page/Extended-Data-Out, or FP/EDO, and SynchroB&AM, or SDRAM, to double-data-rate, or DDR, and RDSDRAM and leading-
edge high performance DDR3 SDRAM devices. Theseulestencompass a broad range of form factors armadifuns and more current dual
in-line memory modules, or DIMMs, fully-buffered MIMs, or FBDIMMS, small outline dual in-line memomyodules, or SODIMMs, very
low profile, or VLP, DIMMs and mini-DIMMs for spaeeonstrained blade servers, or 1.75 inch thin cdmguservers, and networking
applications. These memory modules come in cordigums of up to 244 pins and densities of up to 8@ utilize advanced device and
module-level packaging/stacking technologies tde@hcost-effective high-density solutions. We alsoommodate custom module designs
based on specific OEM requirements. Our advance® MIDR2 and DDR3 memory modules are designed toatpevith high performance
devices available through the extensive use otridat and thermal simulation and modeling. Our DMMR2 and DDR3 DIMMs are tested
at-speed on high-end functional testers utilizingprehensive test suites, enabling these modulesé the stringent quality requirements of
enterprise class systems.

Flash Modules

In 2007, we introduced our Industrial Flasbducts, which are based on state of the artesangd dual channel 32 bit RISC
microcontrollers that meet the requirements of gidal OEM's applications within networking, telee@nd storage markets. With product
performance and sustained read across multiple factors such as Compact Flash, our product limesgned to meet individualized
customer requirements and complements our sultdiR#M products.

4 Rank FBDIMM

FBDIMM technology poses a significant thatrohallenge, especially in higher density DIMMsda the Advanced Memory Buffer, or
AMB, and the number of DRAM ICs on the module. Wevé effectively addressed the above challengesvsraging many of our core-
competencies. The low-power FBDIMM is designed bing a combination of efficient board design, comgrtt selection
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and a cutting-edge thermal engineering. Our FBDIBi®Sign uses the lowest power AMB and a 4-Rank x@igaration. A high efficiency
heat-sink effectively dissipates the heat everigitdt memory system utilization, resulting in higégrformance and reliable memory operation.

We offer power efficient FBDIMM solutions PGB, 4GB and 8GB capacities at speeds up to RIOR-6r 800MT/s. In addition to the
thermal engineering, we use a set of sophisticd¢siyn techniques such as impedance matching,eddapacitive loading and built-in air
gaps (to eliminate cross talk and electro-magreetigpling) to enable a high performance registerddND that delivers up to PC2-6400
performance.

Very Low Profile Registered DIMM

We pioneered the very low profile, or Videsign using proprietary board-stacking technolddnese modules find their applications in
the thin form-factor systems like the Blade Senzerd Telecom equipment. The VLP designs are availEb1GB, 2GB, 4GB, DDR1 and
2GB, 4GB, and 8GB DDR2 RDIMM.

Small Form Factor DIMM

1GB, 2GB and 4GB SODIMM are available as-B6CC modules in 200-pin connector form-factor. TBB and 2GB VLP and LP Mini-
RDIMM are also available as ECC modules in 244qainnector form-factor. Our small DIMM options héfigrease the capacities of the
mobile clients, workstation, and communication egst at optimal cost.

Flash Memory Cards and Modul

We design and manufacture Industrial Flasimory products in a variety of form factors andazaties. Our wide range of flash memory
products come in Compact-Flash, PC Card, SecurigaDigith plans to support other form factors withUSB interface. Our flash modules are
predominantly used in telecom equipment, printemshbedded controller applications, servers, switemesrouters. Our relationships with
numerous suppliers of flash and controller applicaspecific integrated circuits allow us to offewide range of cost-effective products to our
customers.

Technology

We have a portfolio of proprietary techrgés and design techniques and have assembledyareering team with expertise in
semiconductor, printed circuit boards, memory satesy and system design. Our technology competemziksie:

Very Low Profile Designs. We were the first company to create a 1 gigabyémory subsystem in a form factor of less thamioach in
height. We believe our proprietary board desightetogy is particularly useful in the blade serrarket, where efficient use of motherboard
space is critical. Our technology has allowed uddorease the system board space required for igeamat improve thermal performance and
operating speeds, by enabling our customers taltesmative methods of component layout.

Proprietary PCB Designs. We utilize advanced, proprietary techniquesgtimize electronic signal strength and integritjhim a PCB.
These techniques include the use of 8- or 10-lagards, matching conductive trace lengths, a ma@chinumber of conductive connectors, or
vias, and precise load balancing to, among othiegs$h help reduce noise and crosstalk between exfjaiaces. In addition, our proprietary
designs for the precise placement of intra-sulesttamponents allow us to assemble memory subsyst@msignificantly smaller physical
size, enabling OEMs to develop products with smddietprints for their customers.
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Planar Design. Our planar solutions are designed to providd liensity solutions in a more cost-effective marhan traditional chip-
stacking. We believe traditional chip-stacking cepresent a significant portion of the total cdsh memory subsystem. Our planar solutions
achieve the same densities as chip-stacked moduteto so by leveraging our PCB design expertiggaoe ICs in two rows in the same plane
rather than on top of each other. Our planar memobgystem designs feature high memory capacityimiproved thermal characteristics by
dissipating heat uniformly throughout the PCB.

Advanced Planar Designs.We plan to extend our planar design capalslitiedevelop very high density memory subsysteres&
advanced planar designs may allow us to build nardsdlutions at lower costs compared to other pginigatechnologies. Additionally, these
advanced planar solutions may remove heat genebgtatemory components in a more effective manndrcam be used to build memory
subsystems in a number of densities and form factor

IC Design Expertise. We have designed blocks of custom logic thatlmimplemented in a stand-alone IC or integratitial other
functional blocks in other ICs. We use these cudtigit blocks to effectively increase density aaduce costs by allowing the use of two
current-generation, lower density DRAM ICs in liglua single next-generation higher density IC.

Innovative Design Verification Tools.We use our innovative and proprietary DRAM Isadulators during the product development
stage to carefully assess DRAM IC load balancingiilements in our memory subsystems. Our DRAM kiatlilators are mounted in a
memory subsystem in place of DRAM ICs to test tleeteonic signal strength and integrity of the meyndesign without disrupting signal
quality. This provides us with more accurate fee#ttthan that provided by conventional means becawesare able to measure the signals at
the precise point of origination.

Thermal Management DesignsWe design our memory subsystems to ensuretigideat dissipation. We use thermal cameras to
obtain thermal profiles of the memory subsystenirduthe design phase, allowing us to rearrange compts to enhance thermal
characteristics and, if necessary, replace compstieat do not meet specifications. We use thesinallation and modeling software to create
comprehensive heat transfer models of our memdrgy@tems, which enables our engineers to quicklglde accurate solutions to potential
thermal issues. We also develop and use propribeay spreaders to enhance the thermal managehsacteristics of our memory
subsystems.

Customers

We primarily market and sell our productdgading OEMs in the server, high performance agimg and communications markets. Our
memory subsystems are incorporated into multipdéf@ims at customers such as Dell and Hewlett-Rdckad other OEMs. Consistent with
the concentrated nature of the OEM customer basaritarget markets, a small number of large custsrhave historically accounted for a
significant portion of our net sales. Net salesuotwo largest customers, Dell and Hewlett Packaapresented approximately 90% and 78%
of our total net sales in 2008 and 2007, respdgtivdso refer to Note 15 of Notes to Consolidatédancial Statements, included in Part IV,
Item 15 of this Report. Net sales to some of ouMattistomers include memory modules that are qedlifiy us directly with the OEM
customer and sold to electronic manufacturing ses/providers, or EMSs, for incorporation into prod manufactured exclusively for the
OEM customer. These net sales to EMSs have hiatlyrituctuated period by period as a portion o thtal net sales to these OEM customers.

We expect that our key customers will aomdi to account for a substantial portion of oursades in 2009 and in the foreseeable future.
These customers and their respective contributioiosir net sales have varied and will likely contrto vary from period to period. Our sales
are made
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primarily pursuant to standard purchase ordersrttagt be rescheduled or canceled on relatively staiite. Thus, we do not have a significant
customer backlog.

Customers are generally allowed limitedhtsgof return for up to 30 days, except for safesxaess inventories, which contain no right-of-
return privileges. Estimated returns are providedat the time of sale based on historical expegesr specific identification of an event
necessitating a reserve. We offer a standard ptedarcanty to our customers and have no other gloigiment obligations. While these returns
have historically been within our expectations #relprovisions established, we cannot guarantéembavill continue to experience similar
return rates in the future. Any significant incre@s product failure rates and the resulting prodeturns could have a material adverse effect
on our operating results for the period or periodshich such returns materialize.

We offer warranties on our memory subsystgenerally ranging from one to three years, depgnzh the product and negotiated terms
of purchase agreements with our customers. Suctamtégs require us to repair or replace defectioglpct returned to us during such warre
period at no cost to the customer. Our estimatew&oranty related costs are recorded at the tihsale based on historical and estimated
future product return rates and expected repaieplacement costs. While such costs have histdribakn within our expectations and the
provisions established, unexpected changes irréaihates could have a material adverse impact preqairing additional warranty reserves,
and adversely affecting our gross profit and groasgins.

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products througlrectisales force and a network of independentgaigresentatives. Our sales activities focus
primarily on developing strong relationships at thehnical, marketing and executive managementdevighin market-leading OEMs. These
OEMs design systems for a variety of applicatidra tequire a significant number of high performanmemory subsystems, representing
substantial opportunities for us. We have beenessfal in developing OEM relationships through ahbitity to provide high performance
memory subsystems. Our direct sales group anddighication engineers work closely with our OEMsitmumers at an early stage of their
design cycles to solve their design challengestanigsign our products into their systems.

We believe in the timely communication axdhange of information with our customers. Weizgilvell-trained, highly technical
program management teams to successfully drivepmeduct development and quickly respond to ourarusts' heeds and expectations. Our
program management teams provide quick respongs timd act as a single point-of-contact for roussaes during the sales process.
Additionally, they address the long-term business technology goals of our customers. We empl@aatapproach to business development
whereby our sales team and independent represesgtédientify, qualify and prioritize customer presgs through offices in a number of
locations worldwide. For additional information eeding our net sales from external customers bygghic area, refer to Note 16 of Note!
Consolidated Financial Statements, included in Rgrtem 15 of this Report.

Our marketing efforts are twofold: createngareness of the benefits of our proprietary tetdgies and design techniques in the
development of application-specific memory subsysteand building our brand awareness with our ctiimed potential customers.

Manufacturing

We currently manufacture substantiallyoélbur products at our facilities in Suzhou in #eople's Republic of China, or the PRC. Our
advanced engineering and design capabilities, amaabivith our in-house manufacturing processeswalle to assemble our memory
subsystems reliably and in high volume. Our advedncestomized manufacturing facilities are capallsurface mount assembly, subsystem
testing, system-level burn-in testing, programmimgrking, labeling and packaging. At each
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stage of the production cycle, including produdtptyping, qualification sample production and higilume manufacturing and delivery, we
focus on providing our customers with rapid resgoaisd short manufacturing turn-around times. Mastufeng cycle times for our products
are typically one week or less, and in some casésvaas two days, from receipt of order.

During 2008, we transitioned our manufaatyito our facility in the PRC. This facility hagsificantly increased our manufacturing
capacity. We believe that this facility enablesaiachieve better operating leverage through lonaterial and labor costs. This facility also
puts our products in closer proximity to a numbfeowr end customers, allowing us to fulfill custaneeders more quickly. For information
regarding our net long-lived assets located outdiddJnited States, refer to Note 16 of Notes tagotidated Financial Statements, included in
Part IV, Item 15 of this Report.

We acquire components and materials sué@R#M ICs and NAND directly from IC manufacturemsdaassemble them into finished
subsystems. We believe that one of our key strangtthe efficient procurement and management wipaments for our subsystems, which
benefits our customers in the form of lower costd imcreased product availability. We have a lishiteimber of suppliers, which include but
are not limited to, Micron Semiconductor, Hynix Seamductor, Samsung Electronics, and Elpida Memiory, We have developed strong
supplier relationships with these and other key DRIE and NAND manufacturers, which we believe givssdirect and ready access to the
critical components that we need for our productotivities. We typically qualify our products withur customers using multiple
manufacturers of DRAM ICs and NAND. The flexibility choose from several DRAM IC and NAND providali®ws us to minimize product
cost and maximize product availability.

We schedule production based on purchater aommitments and anticipated orders. We releagenaterials to the manufacturing floor
by means of an on-line shop floor control systemictv allows for internal quality analysis, directass to inventory information and
production floor material tracking. We have a fldgi manufacturing workforce which allows us to ngamanforecasted demand. In additior
order to mitigate inventory risks, we have the ¢alfig to sell excess quantities of component ineey of DRAM ICs and NAND to
distributors and other users of memory ICs. Ouessaf excess inventory generated approximately flétionet sales for fiscal 2008 and 2%
our net sales for fiscal 2007. As compared to peviyears, component inventory sales have significdecreased as a percentage of net sale:
as a result of our efforts to diversify both oustmmer and product line bases. This diversificaéiffiart has also allowed us to use components
in a wider range of memory subsystems.

Our Quality Assurance engineers work witin suppliers to ensure that the raw materials weive meet our high quality standards. Tl
engineers also perform onsite supplier factory auatid use our internal test and inspection systemsrify that purchased components and
materials meet our specifications. Our suppliediguprogram and incoming material quality contpsbgram are important aspects of our
overall manufacturing process.

We perform ongoing reliability testing oaranemory subsystems and share the results ofasting with our customers. We believe that
this improves the system design process and afiomtbe elimination of potential problems at thelieat possible stage. In addition, we have
implemented procedures which require that all afrmemory subsystems undergo functional and system-i testing prior to delivery to the
customer. We complement our test capabilities aithanced imaging technology to inspect the qualityur microBGA assemblies.

We are certified in ISO 9001:2000 Qualitamhgement Systems, ISO 14001:1996 EnvironmentabfyjiEanent Standards, and OSHAS
18001:1999 Occupational Health and Safety Manage®gstems.
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Competition

Our products are primarily targeted for seever, high performance computing and commumnatmarkets. These markets are intensely
competitive, as numerous companies vie for busioppsrtunities at a limited number of large OEMsir @rimary competitors are memory
module providers such as STEC, SMART Modular Tettgies, Inc., and Viking Interworks, a division ®anmina-SCI Corporation. We also
face competition from semiconductor suppliers,udalg Hynix, Samsung and Micron in a limited radepplications. As we enter new
markets and pursue additional applications forgroducts, we may face competition from a larger bermof competitors.

Certain of our competitors have substagtigdeater financial, technical, marketing, distiflon and other resources, broader product lines,
lower cost structures, greater brand recognitiahlanger standing relationships with customers sugpliers. Some of our competitors may
also have a greater ability to influence industandards than we do, as well as more extensivepptetfolios.

Some of our customers and suppliers mag lpagprietary products or technologies which amapetitive with our products, or could
develop internal solutions or enter into strategiationships with, or acquire, existing high-dépshemory module providers. Any of these
actions could reduce our customers' demand fopmducts. Some of our significant suppliers of mgm@E&s may be able to manufacture
competitive products at lower costs by leveragimigmal efficiencies, or could choose to reducesupply of memory ICs, adversely affecting
our ability to manufacture our memory subsystema timely basis, if at all.

Our ability to compete in our current targerkets and in future markets will depend in éapgrt on our ability to successfully develop,
introduce and sell new and enhanced products onedytand cost-effective basis, and to responchinging market requirements. We believe
that the principal competitive factors in the sétatof high performance memory subsystems by pialecustomers are:

. understanding of OEM system and business requiresy
. timeliness of new product introductior
. design characteristics and performance;

. quality and reliability;

. track record of volume deliver

. credibility with the custome

. fulfillment capability and flexibility; and
. price.

We believe that we compete favorably wébpect to these factors. We expect, however, tivatwarent and future competitors could
develop competing products that could cause artegli sales or loss of market acceptance of oudymts.

Research and Development

The market for high performance memory gatesns is constantly changing and therefore coatindevelopment of new technology,
processes and product innovation is mandatory gubeessful as a leading supplier. We believettigtontinued and timely development of
new products and improvement of existing produngscatical to maintaining our competitive positidbur team of engineers focuses on
developing custom semiconductor logic devices anduywcts with innovative thermal solutions, packggsolutions and improved electrical
signal integrity that enhances reliability over tifie of the system and achieves higher speeddamers power consumption. Also, our
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engineers incorporate various new techniques arladelogies for testing as well as new processesmufacturing our products.

Our engineering staff closely engages withOEM partners and their engineering teams & stages in their system development. This
collaboration allows our engineers to understamedctistomer's system architecture, power budgetatipg environment such as air flow and
operating temperature and any mechanical consrantr engineers use this information to providielgice and solutions to implement
optimum memory subsystems to our OEM partners.myoirtant aspect of our research and developmemnt éfto understand the challenges
faced by our OEM partners and provide cost effecsivlutions that satisfy their requirements byizitiy our industry knowledge, proprietary
technologies and technical expertise.

We use advanced design tools in developaifemtr products that allow us to model behavioaaignal trace on our memory modules as
well as airflow and thermal profiles of all compaitein the system. These design tools enable irmalgimulation for signal integrity and
behavioral modeling of our designs using the Ifputput Buffer Information Specification (IBIS) ofiosuppliers’ components. These
simulation tools help us reduce or eliminate etattr signal reflections, clock skews, signal jitéerd noise which can reduce system
performance and reliability. Also, our engineers tieermal simulation tools to identify potentiaétmal problems arising from inadequate
airflow necessary to cool the components in théesysThese efforts allow our engineers to devefamam thermal solutions for our
customer base.

We believe that to remain competitive westrzontinue to focus on developing advanced mensmtynologies. We have invested
significant resources in the design of custom sendactor logic devices. These logic devices aregirdted into our next-generation memory
subsystems in order to improve their performanoce.example, our "DxD" logic devices enable our DRAsIsed subsystems to achieve hi
speeds, consume less power and address greateryneapacity than currently available products ia tharket. Another family of logic
devices enable DRAM and Flash memory to be effitjasombined for the purposes of backing up dateagte. The development of these
semiconductor devices are an important part oowerall effort to maintain a strong competitive pios in our industry based on advanced
memory technology.

Our customers typically do not separatelnpensate us for design and engineering work irgbim developing application-specific
products for them. Our total expenditures for redeand development were approximately $6.9 miliad $4.8 million for 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

Intellectual Property

Our high performance memory subsystemsleveloped in part using our proprietary intelleCpuaperty, and we believe that the strer
of our intellectual property rights will be impontato the success of our business. We utilize pated trade secret protection, confidentiality
agreements with customers and partners, discl@dénvention assignment agreements with emplogedsonsultants and other contractual
provisions to protect our intellectual property ander proprietary information.

As of January 3, 2009, we had 9 patenteedsind 12 patent applications pending. Assumiagttiey are properly maintained, four of our
issued patents will expire in 2022, four will expin 2025 and the other one will expire in 2027r Bsued patents and patent applications
relate to the use of custom logic in high perforoeamemory subsystems, PCB design, layout and packsgchniques. We intend to actively
pursue the filing of additional patent applicatioakted to our technology advancements. While aleebe that our patent and other intellec
property rights are important to our success, ecinttical expertise and ability to introduce newdpieis in a timely manner also will continue
to be important factors in maintaining our competitposition. Accordingly, we believe that our mess is not materially dependent upon any
one claim in any of our pending patent applications
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Despite our precautions, a third party measerse engineer, copy or otherwise obtain anaduseroducts, services or technology without
authorization, develop similar technology indepeniljeor design around any patents issued to usteTten be no assurance that our efforts
taken to prevent misappropriation or infringemeindur intellectual property by third parties haveeh or will be successful.

Employees

At January 3, 2009, we had approximately émployees (including 103 regular employees ang&porary employees). Approximately
62 of the regular employees were located in the,ldu8l approximately 41 were located in other caes{mainly in the PRC). We had 104
employees in operations, 25 employees in reseadil@velopment, 14 employees in sales and marketindy10 employees engaged in other
administrative functions. We are not party to aolfective bargaining agreements with any of our lExyges. We have never experienced a
work stoppage, and we believe our employee relat&a good.

General Information

We maintain a websiteatvw.netlist.confthis uniform resource locator, or URL, is an ineettextual reference only and is not intended
to incorporate our website into this Form KR-We file reports with the Securities and Exchai@pmmission, or SEC, and make available,
of charge, on or through our website, our annyabms on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 1G@yent reports on Form 8-K, proxy and
information statements and amendments to thosetssfiled or furnished pursuant to Section 13(al5fd) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended, as soon as reasonably practéftdiieve electronically file such material withr,farnish it to, the SEC. Our website also
contains copies of our corporate governance poticge of business conduct and ethics, insiderrtgagolicy and whistleblower policy, as w
as copies of the charters for our audit committeeypensation committee and nominating and corpg@ternance committee.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes forwardkimg statements. These forward-looking staterrgarerally are identified by
words such as "believe", "expect", "anticipate"stimate”, "intend", "strategy”, "may", "will likelyand similar words or phrases. A forward-
looking statement is neither a prediction nor a gudee of future events or circumstances, and tiftsee events or circumstances may not
occur. Investors should not place undue reliancéhenforwardlooking statements, which speak only as of the ofatieis Report. We are unc
no obligation to update or alter any forward-loogistatements, whether as a result of new informafigture events or otherwise. These
forward-looking statements are all based on currently Edé market, operating, financial and competitiséormation and are subject to
various risks and uncertainties, including but hotited to the rapidly-changing nature of technatpgvolving industry standards;
introductions of new products by competitors; ctesin end-user demand for technology solutions;aduility to attract and retain skilled
personnel; our reliance on suppliers of criticalnaponents; fluctuations in the market price of cdaticomponents; and the political a
regulatory environment in the PRC. Our actual fetuesults and trends may differ materially depegdin a variety of factors including, but
not limited to, the risks and uncertainties dis@gsbelow. The risks below are not the only onefaae Additional risks and risks that
management currently considers immaterial may hbee an adverse effect on us.
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We have a limited operating history, and we expe@ number of factors to cause our operating result®o fluctuate on a quarterly and
annual basis, which may make it difficult to predi¢ our future performance.

Our limited operating history makes it difflt to predict our future performance. Our opergtresults have varied significantly in the past
and will continue to fluctuate from quarter-to-cueairor year-to-year in the future due to a varadtjactors, many of which are beyond our
control. Factors relating to our business that m@ytribute to these quarterly and annual fluctuetimclude the following factors, as well as
other factors described elsewhere in this Report:

. the loss of, or a significant reduction in salesatéey custome

. the cyclical nature of the industry in which we rte;

. a reduction in the demand for our high performameenory subsystems or the systems into which theynaorporated,;

. costs and efficiencies associated with designimbautsourcing the manufacture of integrated cisg!

. dependence on large suppliers who are also comrsetihd whose manufacturing priorities may not suppur productior
schedules;

. changes in the prices of our products or in thé abthe materials that we use to build our produittcluding fluctuations in th

market price of DRAM ICs and NAND;

. our inability to develop new or enhanced produlets ichieve customer or market acceptance in dytimanner;
. the timing of introductions of competing productdechnologies;
. our ability to adequately finance future grow

. our ability to procure an adequate supply of keyponents, particularly DRAM ICs and NAND;

. our failure to maintain the qualification of ouroplucts with our current customers or to qualifyfetproducts with our current
or prospective customers;

. our failure to produce products that meet the tpadiquirements of our custome
. our ability to effectively operate our manufactygritacility in the PRC;

. the loss of any of our key personnel;

. delays in fulfilling orders for our products orailtire to fulfill orders;

. disputes regarding intellectual property rights;

. the costs and management attention diversion agsdaivith litigation;

. our customers' failure to pay us on a timely basist;

. changes in accounting principles or polic

Due to the various factors mentioned abawe, others, the results of any prior quarterlgromual periods should not be relied upon as an
indication of our future operating performance.

Sales to a limited number of customers representsignificant portion of our net sales and the lossfpor a significant reduction in sales
to, any one of these customers could materially har our business.

Sales to certain of our OEM customers agbell, IBM and Hewlett Packard have historicaipresented a substantial portion of our net
sales. We currently expect that sales to Dell aed/leitt
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Packard will continue to represent a significantpatage of our net sales for at least the nexhd2ths. We do not have long-term agreements
with these customers, or with any other customas: @ne of these customers could decide at anytondéscontinue, decrease or delay their
purchase of our products. In addition, the pritedt these customers pay for our products couldgdhanany time. The loss of Dell or Hewlett
Packard as a customer, or a significant reductisales to either of them, would significantly redwur net sales and adversely affect our
operating results.

Our ability to maintain or increase our sales to our key customers depends on a varidgctirs, many of which are beyond our
control. These factors include our customers' cmetil sales of servers and other computing systeshéicorporate our memory subsystems
and our customers' continued incorporation of odpcts into their systems.

Because of these and other factors, weataagsure you that net sales to these customdrsontinue or that the amount of such net sales
will reach or exceed historical levels in any fetgeriod. Because these customers account forstasitial portion of our net sales, the failure
of any one of these customers to pay on a timedjshaould negatively impact our cash flow. In amudlit while we may not be contractually
obligated to accept returned products, we may deterthat it is in our best interest to acceptnegun order to maintain good relations with
our customers.

A limited number of relatively large potential customers dominate the markets for our products.

Our target markets are characterized liyiaeld number of large companies. Consolidationnie or more of our target markets may
further increase this industry concentration. Assult, we anticipate that sales of our productsomntinue to be concentrated among a limited
number of large customers in the foreseeable fuWeebelieve that our financial results will dependignificant part on our success in
establishing and maintaining relationships withd affecting substantial sales to, these potentisianers. Even if we establish these
relationships, our financial results will be largelependent on these customers’ sales and busasests.

Our operating results may be adversely impacted bworldwide economic and political uncertainties andspecific conditions in the
markets we address, including the cyclical naturefand volatility in the memory market and semicondctor industry.

Recently general worldwide economic cowditi have experienced a downturn due to the credditons impacted by the subprime-
mortgage turmoil and other factors, slower econaasitvity, concerns about inflation and deflatimgreased energy costs, decreased
consumer confidence, reduced corporate profitscapital spending, adverse business conditionsiguoidlity concerns in the memory market,
recent international conflicts and the impact aunal disasters and public health emergencies.&besditions make it extremely difficult for
our customers, our vendors and us to accuratedcést and plan future business activities, and ¢beld cause U.S. and foreign businesses to
slow spending on our products and services, whighldvdelay and lengthen sales cycles. Furtherntinéng challenging economic times our
customers may face issues gaining timely accessffizient credit, which could result in an impagmnt of their ability to make timely
payments to us. If that were to occur, we may heired to increase our allowance for doubtful acte@nd our days sales outstanding would
be negatively impacted. We cannot predict the tingtrength or duration of any economic slowdowsursequent economic recovery,
worldwide, or in the memory market and related semductor industry. If the economy or markets irchitwe operate do not continue at tf
present levels, our business, financial conditiod esults of operations will likely be materiadiyjd adversely affected. Additionally, the
combination of our lengthy sales cycle coupled whhllenging macroeconomic conditions could hasgreergistic negative impact on the
results of our operations.
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The price of our common stock has and may continui® fluctuate significantly, and we are potentiallysubject to delisting from the
NASDAQ Global Market.

The price of our common stock is volatileldas in the past fluctuated significantly. Thegia be no assurance as to the prices at which
our common stock will trade in the future or thatetive trading market in our common stock willdusstained in the future. The market price
at which our common stock trades may be influeriyethany factors, including:

. our operating and financial performance and praspé&tcluding our ability to achieve and sustaiafipability in the future;
. investor perception of us and the industry in whighoperate;

. the level of research coverage of our common stock;

. changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recomatigmd by analyst:

. general financial and other market conditions;

. domestic and international economic conditions.

In addition, public stock markets have eigreced, and may continue to experience, extrenice pnd trading volume volatility,
particularly in the technology sectors of the markéese broad market fluctuations may adversdgcathe market price of our common stc
If our common stock trades below $1.00 per shar8@oconsecutive trading days, or if we otherwisendt meet the requirements for contin
guotation on the NASDAQ Global Market (NASDAQ), acommon stock could be delisted which would adJgragect the ability of
investors to sell shares of our common stock amnddoatherwise adversely affect our business.

In October 2008, our common stock pricedmeyading below $1.00 per share. On October 1688 2RASDAQ filed a rule change with
the SEC to temporarily suspend the continued fsteguirements relating to bid price and marketi@alf publicly held shares through
April 20, 2009. In March 2009 this suspension weterded to July 19, 2009. We can provide no assertirat we will be in compliance with
the minimum bid price rule once the suspensioifted.

In 2007, following a drop in the price afrastock, securities litigation was initiated agaithe company. Given the historic volatility ofr
industry, we may become engaged in this type igiliton in the future. Securities litigation is exsive and time-consuming.

The markets in which we compete are cyclical in nate, and any future downturn could adversely affecbur business.

Sales of our products are dependent uporadd in the computing, networking, communicatign®ter, storage and industrial markets.
These markets have been cyclical and are charaetieby wide fluctuations in product supply and decha hese markets have experienced
significant downturns, often connected with, oaticipation of, maturing product cycles, reductiam technology spending and declines in
general economic conditions. These downturns haea haracterized by diminished product demandiystion overcapacity, high inventory
levels and the erosion of average selling prices.

We may experience substantial period-teegiituctuations in future operating results dudactors affecting the computing, networking,
communications, printers, storage and industriaketa. A decline or significant shortfall in demandany one of these markets could have a
material adverse effect on the demand for our ptsd@As a result, our sales will likely decline ihgrthese periods. In addition, because many
of our costs and operating expenses are relatfixy, if we are unable to control our expensesjadeely in response to reduced sales, our
gross margins, operating income and cash flow wbaldegatively impacted.
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We are subject to risks relating to product concerraition and lack of market diversification.

We have historically derived a substarg@tion of our net sales from sales of our higHgenance memory subsystems for use in the
server market. We expect these memory subsysteomtmue to account for a significant portion af met sales in the near term. Continued
market acceptance of these products for use ireseiw critical to our success. If the demand &vers deteriorates or if the demand for our
products to be incorporated in servers declinespparating results would be adversely affected,\ae would be forced to diversify our
product portfolio and our target markets. We matybeable to achieve this diversification, and inability to do so may adversely affect our
business.

In addition, our attempts to develop divferation in our product lines may not be succekdiVe have invested a significant portion of .
research and development budget into the designstbm semiconductor logic devices in an attemgetaur products apart from those of
competitors. These new designs and products tleeineorporated into are subject to increased @sksompared to our existing products. For
example:

. we may be unable to achieve customer or markeptaeee of these new products, or achieve such touwEpin a timel)
manner;

. these new products may contain currently undisaa/éaws, the correction of which would resultiicieased costs and time to
market; and

. we will be required to demonstrate the quality egldhbility of these new products to our customars] will be required t

qualify these new products with our customers, ldtivhich will require a significant investmenttirhe and resources prior to
the receipt of any revenue from such customers.

Any failure or delay in placing or qualify these new products with our customers wouldylikesult in reductions in our net sales and
would adversely impact our results of operations.

Our investments in auction rate securities are sulgict to risks which may cause losses and affect thiguidity of these investments.

We hold certain investments in auction ssgteurities that have failed, or may in the fufiait their respective auctions. An auction failure
means that the parties wishing to sell their séiesrcould not do so. As a result of failed auctiour ability to liquidate and fully recover the
carrying value of our investments in the near taray be limited or not exist. If the issuers of th@s/estments are unable to close future
auctions and their credit ratings deteriorate, veg i the future be required to record an impairmoirarge on these investments. We also may
be required to wait until market stability is rasioh for these investments or until the final mayueif the underlying notes (up to 30 years) to
realize our investments' cost value.

We have historically incurred losses and may contire to incur losses.

Since the inception of our business in 2@@thave only experienced one fiscal year (200®) miofitable results. We have incurred net
losses each other fiscal year. In order to regadfitpbility, or to achieve and sustain positiveskcdlows from operations in the future, we must
further reduce operating expenses and/or incraasgewenues. Although we have in the past engagetiare continuing to engage, in a series
of cost reduction actions these expense reductilome may not make us profitable or allow us tdaogrofitability if it is achieved. Our
ability to achieve profitability will depend on ireased revenue growth from, among other thingseased demand for our memory subsystem
and related product offerings, as well as our ghiit expand into new and emerging markets. We nuype successful in achieving the
necessary revenue growth or the expected expedsetiens. Moreover, we may be unable to sustaihqrasxpected future expense reduct
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in subsequent periods. We may not achieve profityloir sustain such profitability, if achieved, amguarterly or annual basis in the future.

Any failure to achieve profitability coutésult in increased capital requirements and pressuour liquidity position. Many companies
are experiencing difficulty in achieving accessapital in these challenging times. We believefature capital requirements will depend on
many factors, including our levels of net saleg,ttming and extent of expenditures to supportaegeand development activities, the
expansion of manufacturing capacity both domedyicaid internationally and the continued marketegtance of our products. Our capital
requirements could result in our having to, or otfige choosing to, seek additional funding thropgblic or private equity or debt financing,
which funding may not be available on terms acdaptto us, or at all, either of which could resnlbur inability to meet certain of our
financial obligations and other related commitments

The prices of DRAM ICs and NAND are volatile, and banges in their prices could adversely affect ourrgss margin.

The prices of our products are adjustetbdéerally based in part on the market price of DRAG&S and NAND, which have historically
constituted a substantial portion of the total edstur memory subsystems. Once our prices withséotner are negotiated, we are generally
unable to revise pricing with that customer untit aext regularly scheduled price adjustment. Coueetly, we are exposed to the risks
associated with the volatility of the price of DRAKIs and NAND during that period. If the marketges for DRAM ICs and NAND increase,
we generally cannot pass the price increases ouartoustomers for products purchased under animxistirchase order. As a result, our co:
sales could increase and our gross margins coaletage. Alternatively, if there are declines inhiee of DRAM ICs and NAND, we may
need to reduce our selling prices for subsequerhase orders, which may result in a decline ineogoected net sales.

Customer demand is difficult to accurately forecasand any failure to optimally calibrate our production capacity and inventory levels
to meet customer demand could adversely affect owmevenues, gross margins and earnings.

We make significant decisions regardingléwvels of business that we will seek and acceptyrction schedules, component procurement
commitments, personnel needs and other resouro@eatents, based on our estimates of customerrargants. The short-term nature of
commitments by many of our customers, the factdboatcustomers may cancel or defer purchase ofdeey reason, and the possibility of
unexpected changes in demand for our customemdupt®each reduce our ability to accurately esermfisture customer requirements for our
products.

If we underestimate customer demand, we maayave sufficient inventory of DRAM ICs and NANi» hand to manufacture enough
product to meet that demand. We also may not haffieisnt capacity at any given time to meet oustouners' demands for rapid increases in
production. These shortages of inventory and capadlil lead to delays in the delivery of our praxs, which could cause order cancellations,
the loss of customers and a decrease in our res.sal

Conversely, if we overestimate customer @eiin we may have excess raw material inventoryRAB ICs and NAND. If there is a
subsequent decline in the prices of DRAM ICs or NARKhe value of our inventory will fall. As a resulve may need to write-down the value
of our DRAM IC or NAND inventory, which may restiit a significant decrease in our gross margin amahtial condition. Also, to the extent
that we manufacture products in anticipation ofifatdemand that does not materialize, or in theteweustomer cancels or reduces
outstanding orders, we could experience an ungatied increase in our finished goods inventorghtnpast, we have had to write-down
inventory due to obsolescence, excess quantitiésladlines in market value below our costs.
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We use a small number of DRAM IC and NAND suppliersand are subject to risks of disruption in the supfy of DRAM ICs and NAND.

Our ability to fulfill customer orders igpendent on a sufficient supply of DRAM ICs and NANvhich are essential components of our
memory subsystems. There is a relatively small rermobsuppliers of DRAM ICs and NAND, and we purshdrom only a subset of these
suppliers. We have no long-term DRAM or NAND suppbntracts. Our dependence on a small number g@lieup and the lack of any
guaranteed sources of DRAM and NAND supply expastseveral risks, including the inability to dbhtan adequate supply of DRAM ICs
and NAND, price increases, delivery delays and ppaiity.

The recent declines in customer demandewvehues have caused us to reduce our purchaBé& i ICs and NAND. Should we not
maintain sufficient purchase levels with some sigpp) our ability to obtain future supplies of ravaterials may be impaired due to the prac
of some suppliers to allocate their products tdamers with the highest regular demand.

From time to time, shortages in DRAM ICsl&AND have required some suppliers to limit thpy of their DRAM ICs and NAND.
As a result, we may be unable to obtain the DRAM é€ NAND necessary to fill customers' orders for products in a timely manner. If we
are unable to obtain a sufficient supply of DRAMsI& NAND to meet our customers' requirements gl@stomers may reduce future orders
for our products or not purchase our productslatndlich would cause our net sales to decline ardhhour operating results. In addition, our
reputation could be harmed, we may not be ableftace any lost business with new customers, anthayelose market share to our
competitors.

Our customers qualify the DRAM ICs and NANDour suppliers for use in their systems. If ofi@ur suppliers should experience que
control problems, it may be disqualified by onararre of our customers. This would disrupt our sigspbdf DRAM ICs and NAND and reduce
the number of suppliers available to us, and mguire that we qualify a new supplier.

The flash memory market is constantly evolving andompetitive, and we may not have rights to manufaate and sell certain types of
products utilizing emerging flash formats, or we mg be required to pay a royalty to sell products ulizing these formats.

The flash-based storage market is constantliergoing rapid technological change and evglumlustry standards. Many consumer
devices, such as digital cameras, PDAs and smargshare transitioning to emerging flash memorynfis, such as the Memory Stick, and
Picture Card formats, which we do not currently ofanture and do not have rights to manufactureh@lgh we do not currently serve the
consumer flash market, it is possible that cer@itMs may choose to adopt these higher-volume, lmw@st formats. This could result in a
decline in demand, on a relative basis, for otmedpcts that we manufacture such as CompactFlatkembedded USB drives. If we decide to
manufacture flash memory products utilizing emegdisrmats such as those mentioned, we will be reduio secure licenses to give us the
right to manufacture such products which may naavsglable at reasonable rates or at all. If wenateable to supply flash card formats at
competitive prices or if we were to have produdridiges, our net sales could be adversely impaatdaur customers would likely cancel
orders or seek other suppliers to replace us.

If the supply of other component materials used tonanufacture our products is interrupted, or if our inventory becomes obsolete, our
results of operations and financial condition couldbe adversely affected.

We use consumables and other componeptading PCBs, to manufacture our memory subsyst¥essometimes procure PCBs and
other components from single or limited sourcetake advantage of volume pricing discounts. Makshartages or transportation problems
could interrupt
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the manufacture of our products from time to timéhie future. These delays in manufacturing coditkesely affect our results of operations.

Frequent technology changes and the inttiolu of next-generation products also may resuthe obsolescence of other items of
inventory, such as our custom-built PCBs, whichldwaduce our gross margin and adversely affecoperating performance and financial
condition. We may not be able to sell some proddeteloped for one customer to another customexusecour products are often designed to
address specific customer requirements, and ewea #re able to sell these products to anotheomest our margin on such products may be
reduced.

We may lose our competitive position if we are undb to timely and cost-effectively develop new or éranced products that meet our
customers' requirements and achieve market acceptae.

Our industry is characterized by intensmpetition, rapid technological change, evolvingustly standards and rapid product
obsolescence. Evolving industry standards and tdobital change or new, competitive technologiedadoender our existing products
obsolete. Accordingly, our ability to compete ie fluture will depend in a large part on our abitiyidentify and develop new or enhanced
products on a timely and cost-effective basis, tangspond to changing customer requirements.dardo develop and introduce new or
enhanced products, we need to:

. identify and adjust to the changing requirementswfcurrent and potential custome
. identify and adapt to emerging technological tremdd evolving industry standards in our markets;
. design and introduce cost-effective, innovative padormance-enhancing features that differentateproducts from those of

our competitors;

. develop relationships with potential suppliers efmponents required for these new or enhanced ptsiduc
. qualify these products for use in our customexsipcts; and
. develop and maintain effective marketing stratec

Our product development efforts are coatlg inherently risky. It is difficult to foreseearges or developments in technology or
anticipate the adoption of new standards. Moreaweee these things are identified, if at all, wé meed to hire the appropriate technical
personnel, develop the product and identify andiiatite design flaws. As a result, we may not be &bkuccessfully develop new or enhar
products, or we may experience delays in the dewedmt and introduction of new or enhanced prodi$ays in product development and
introduction could result in the loss of, or del@tygienerating, net sales and the loss of marlateskas well as damage to our reputation. Even
if we develop new or enhanced products, they maymeet our customers' requirements or gain madegance. Accordingly, we cannot
assure you that our future product developmenttsffaill result in the development of new or enheshproducts or that such products will
achieve market acceptance.

Our customers require that our products undergo aéngthy and expensive qualification process withowtny assurance of net sales.

Our prospective customers generally magigrificant commitment of resources to test anduata our memory subsystems prior to
purchasing our products and integrating them ingirtsystems. This extensive qualification prodgasgelves rigorous reliability testing and
evaluation of our products, which may continuediarmonths or longer and is often subject to delayaddition to qualification of specific
products, some of our customers may also requite usdergo a technology qualification if our protldesigns incorporate innovative
technologies that the customer has not
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previously encountered. Such technology qualifaregioften take substantially longer than produetijoations and can take over a year to
complete. Qualification by a prospective custonminot ensure any sales to that prospective cest@wen after successful qualification i
sales of our products to a customer, changes ipmmgucts, our manufacturing facilities, our protilut processes or our component suppliers
may require a new qualification process, which mesylt in additional delays. In addition, becadsedualification process is both product-
specific and platform-specific, our existing cusamsometimes require us to requalify our produstsy qualify our new products, for use in
new platforms or applications. For example, as@EM customers transition from prior generation DOBRRAM architectures to current
generation DDR3 DRAM architectures, we must desiga qualify new products for use by those customerthe past, this process of design
and qualification has taken up to six months to glete, during which time our net sales to thosearusrs declined significantly. After our
products are qualified, it can take several mob#fsre the customer begins production and we begijenerate net sales. We must devote
substantial resources, including design, engingesales, marketing and management efforts, tafgualr products with prospective
customers in anticipation of sales. If we delaglomot succeed in qualifying a product with a pexdjve customer, we will not be able to sell
that product to that prospect, which would harm aperating results and business.

We may not be able to maintain our competitive potibn because of the intense competition in our tasged markets.

We participate in a highly competitive metrkand we expect competition to intensify. Manyof competitors have longer operating
histories, significantly greater resources and nesnegnition, a larger base of customers and lesgerding relationships with customers and
suppliers than we have. As a result, some of thes®etitors are able to devote greater resourcégetdevelopment, promotion and sale of
products and are better positioned than we aneflicence customer acceptance of their products eveproducts. These competitors also may
be able to respond better to new or emerging tdofies or standards and may be able to deliverymsdvith comparable or superior
performance at a lower price. For these reasonsnayenot be able to compete successfully agaiesetibompetitors.

In addition to the competitors describedwa) some of our OEM customers have their own fialedesign groups that may develop
solutions that compete with ours. These designpggdiave some advantages over us, including dioeetsa to their respective companies'
technical information and technology roadmaps. OEM customers also have substantially greater ressufinancial and otherwise, than we
do, and may have lower cost structures than owss Aesult, they may be able to design and manurgacbmpetitive products more efficiently
or inexpensively. If any of these OEM customerssarecessful in competing against us, our salesdatetline, our margins could be
negatively impacted and we could lose market stamg or all of which could harm our business arsliite of operations. Further, some of our
significant suppliers are also competitors, manwldm have the ability to manufacture competitiveducts at lower costs as a result of their
higher levels of integration.

We expect our competitors to continue tpriowe the performance of their current productdyce their prices and introduce new or
enhanced technologies that may offer greater padoce and improved pricing. If we are unable tocmat exceed the improvements mad
our competitors, our market position would detexierand our net sales would decline. In additiom,competitors may develop future
generations and enhancements of competitive predioat may render our technologies obsolete ormpetitive.

We also expect to face competition from @& emerging companies that may enter our existirigture markets. These potential
competitors may have similar or alternative prodwehich may be less costly or provide additionatdees.
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The establishment and ongoing operation of our marfacturing facility in the People's Republic of Chima, or the PRC, could expose us
to new and significant risks.

During fiscal 2007, we invested significéinte and effort in establishing a manufacturinglfty in the PRC and preparing it for full-scale
operations. This manufacturing facility became afienal in July 2007 and was successfully qualifigccertain key customers at that time. As
of February 1, 2009, substantially all of our wewitle manufacturing production was being perforrimethe PRC. Language and cultural
differences, as well as the geographic distance fsar headquarters in Irvine, further compounddifiéculties of running a manufacturing
operation in the PRC. Our management has limitpegence in creating or overseeing foreign openatiand this new facility may divert
substantial amounts of their time. We cannot asgouwethat we will be able to maintain control opeoduct quality, delivery schedules,
manufacturing yields and costs as we increase wiput We also have to manage a local workforcertey subject us to uncertainties or
regulatory policies and we remain subject to rigiated to managing the increased production cgppaivided by the facility. Should
anticipated demand not materialize, the costsa@lad having excess capacity would have an advens&ct on our gross margins and opere
results.

Changes in the labor laws of the PRC couddease the cost of employing the local workfoiidee increased industrialization of the PRC
could also increase the price of local labor. Eithfehese factors could negatively impact the sastings we currently enjoy from having our
manufacturing facility in the PRC.

In the future, some of our net sales magldrominated in Chinese Renminbi, or RMB. The Cégéngovernment controls the procedures
by which RMB is converted into other currencieg] aonversion of RMB generally requires governmemsent. As a result, RMB may not be
freely convertible into other currencies at alleén If the Chinese government institutes changesiirency conversion procedures, or imposes
restrictions on currency conversion, those actioag negatively impact our operations and could cechwur operating results. In addition,
fluctuations in the exchange rate between RMB ar&l dollars may adversely affect our expenses esults of operations as well as the value
of our assets and liabilities. These fluctuatiorayralso adversely affect the comparability of oerigad-toperiod results. If we decide to decl
dividends and repatriate funds from our Chineseaifmns, we will be required to comply with the pedures and regulations of applicable
Chinese law. Any changes to these procedures gudateons, or our failure to comply with those pedares and regulations, could prevent us
from making dividends and repatriating funds froam €hinese operations, which could adversely affectfinancial condition. If we are able
to make dividends and repatriate funds from oun€ée operations, these dividends would be sulgjddt®. corporate income tax.

The PRC currently provides for favorabbe tates for certain foreign-owned enterprises dp@gan specified locations in the PRC. We
have established our PRC facility in such a taefad location. Should the PRC government enactiage tax structure, it is possible that we
would not realize the tax benefits that we curseatiticipate and this could adversely impact owerapng results.

We depend on a few key employees, and if we lose thervices of any of those employees or are unahiehire additional personnel, our
business could be harmed.

To date we have been highly dependent eexiperience, relationships and technical knowledgertain key employees. We believe 1
our future success will be dependent on our altiitsetain the services of these key employeesldputheir successors, reduce our relianc
them, and properly manage the transition of tr@es should departures occur.

The loss of these key employees could dilaylevelopment and introduction of, and negatiirepact our ability to sell, our products
and otherwise harm our business. We do not havéogmpnt agreements with any of these key emplogéssr than Chun K. Hong, our
President, Chief Executive
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Officer and Chairman of the Board. We do not cdlkgy Man" life insurance on any of our key employee

Our future success also depends on outyetalattract, retain and motivate highly skilledgineering, manufacturing, other technical and
sales personnel. Competition for experienced peedda intense. We may not be successful in attrgetew engineers or other technical
personnel, or in retaining or motivating our exigtpersonnel. If we are unable to hire and retagiresers with the skills necessary to keep
pace with the evolving technologies in our markets,ability to continue to provide our current goats and to develop new or enhanced
products will be negatively impacted, which woulttin our business. In addition, the shortage of egpeed engineers, and other factors, may
lead to increased recruiting, relocation and corapgon costs for such engineers, which may exceeéxpectations and resources. These
increased costs may make hiring new engineergditfior may reduce our margins.

Historically, a significant portion of oworkforce has consisted of contract personnel. West considerable time and expense in trai
these contract employees. We may experience higbwar rates in our contract employee workforceictvimay require us to expend
additional resources in the future. If we convert af these contract employees into permanent eyepk) we may have to pay finder's fees to
the contract agency.

Our lack of a significant backlog of unfilled orders, and the difficulty inherent in forecasting custoner demand, makes it difficult to
forecast our short-term production requirements tomeet that demand.

We do not have long-term purchase agreesneitih our customers. Instead, our customers génglace purchase orders no more than
two weeks in advance of their desired delivery daibel these purchase orders generally have nolttitreor rescheduling penalty provisio
This fact, combined with the quick turn-around tikat apply to each order, makes it difficult@oefcast our production needs and allocate
production capacity efficiently. Our production exise levels are based in part on our forecastarafustomers' future product requirements
and to a large extent are fixed in the short teékma result, we likely will be unable to adjust sgmg on a timely basis to compensate for any
unexpected shortfall in those orders. Any significshortfall of customer orders in relation to edpectations could hurt our operating results,
cash flows and financial condition. Also, any rajidreases in production required by our custoroetsd strain our resources and reduce our
margins. If such a rapid increase were to occangtgiven time, we may not have sufficient shortrtenanufacturing capacity to meet our
customers' immediate demands.

We attempt to forecast the demand for tRABI ICs and other components needed to manufacur@roducts. Lead times for
components vary significantly and depend on varfagwrs, such as the specific supplier and theathehand supply for a component at a
given time. If we underestimate customer demarifilwe have not provided for sufficient manufactgricapacity, we would not be able to
manufacture a sufficient quantity of our produaid aould forego sales opportunities, lose markatesand damage our customer relations|

If we are unable to manufacture our products efficéntly, our operating results could suffer.

We must continuously review and improve manufacturing processes in an effort to maintatisg&ctory manufacturing yields and
product performance, lower our costs and othervésgin competitive. As we manufacture more complexducts, the risk of encountering
delays or difficulties increases. The start-up €@stsociated with implementing new manufacturicgrielogies, methods and processes,
including the purchase of new equipment, and asyltieg manufacturing delays and inefficienciesjldmegatively impact our results of
operations.

If we need to add manufacturing capacityegpansion of our existing manufacturing facibtyestablishment of a new facility could be
subject to factory audits by our customers. Anyagelor
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unexpected costs resulting from this audit processd adversely affect our net sales and resultpefations. In addition, we cannot be certain
that we will be able to increase our manufactudagacity on a timely basis or meet the standardspfapplicable factory audits.

If we fail to protect our proprietary rights, our ¢ ustomers or our competitors might gain access to oproprietary designs, processes
and technologies, which could adversely affect owperating results.

We rely on a combination of patent protattitrade secret laws and restrictions on discesuprotect our intellectual property rights. '
have submitted a number of patent applicationsrdigg our proprietary processes and technologg.nbt certain when or if any of the claims
in the remaining applications will be allowed. Tatel we have had only nine patents issued. We iritendntinue filing patent applications
with respect to most of the new processes and tdapies that we develop. However, patent proteati@y not be available for some of these
processes or technologies.

It is possible that our efforts to proteat intellectual property rights may not:

. prevent challenges to, or the invalidation or aineention of, our existing intellectual propertyhts;

. prevent our competitors from independently develggimilar products, duplicating our products osigaing around any
patents that may be issued to us;

. prevent disputes with third parties regarding owhgr of our intellectual property right

. prevent disclosure of our trade secrets and |-how to third parties or into the public doma

. result in valid patents, including internationatgres, from any of our pending or future applicasioor
. otherwise adequately protect our intellectual propeghts.

Others may attempt to reverse engineely ocoptherwise obtain and use our proprietary tetdgies without our consent. Monitoring the
unauthorized use of our technologies is difficie cannot be certain that the steps we have takepraevent the unauthorized use of our
technologies. This is particularly true in foreigountries, such as the PRC, where we have estaBllisimew manufacturing facility and where
the laws may not protect our proprietary rightgh® same extent as applicable U.S. laws.

If some or all of the claims in our patepplications are not allowed, or if any of our Ilgetual property protections are limited in scope
by a court or circumvented by others, we could facecased competition with regard to our productsreased competition could significar
harm our business and our operating results.

We may be involved in costly legal proceedings toefend against claims that we infringe the intellectal property rights of others or to
enforce or protect our intellectual property rights.

Lawsuits claiming that we are infringindnets' intellectual property rights may be brougjdiast us, and we may have to defend against
claims of infringement or invalidity. We currengjan to explore new technologies and to develop mewlucts for our existing markets, such
as communications, and for new markets, such agonkihg. By making use of these new technologias emering these new markets there is
an increased likelihood that others might allege tur products infringe on their intellectual pedly rights. Litigation is inherently uncertain,
and an adverse outcome could subject us to signfficability for damages or invalidate our propaigy rights. An adverse outcome also could
force us to take specific actions, including cagsis to:

. cease selling products that are claimed to benigifig a third party's intellectual proper
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. pay royalties on past or future sales;

. seek a license from the third party intellectuaparty owner to use their technology in our produathich license may not |
available on reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign those products that are claimed to bagifrg a third party's intellectual property.

There is a limited pool of experienced téchl personnel that we can draw upon to meet bimghneeds. As a result, a number of our
existing employees have worked for our existingatential competitors at some point during theneeas, and we anticipate that a number of
our future employees will have similar work hisesi In the past, some of these competitors hauwaeththat our employees misappropriated
their trade secrets or violated non-competitionam-solicitation agreements. Some of our competitoay threaten or bring legal action
involving similar claims against us or our existegnployees or make such claims in the future tggareus from hiring qualified candidates.
Lawsuits of this type may be brought, even if thisreo merit to the claim, simply as a strateggrain our financial resources and divert
management's attention away from our business.

We also may find it necessary to litigagaiast others, including our competitors, custonaeid former employees, to enforce our
intellectual property and contractual and commeéragts including, in particular, our trade sesreds well as to challenge the validity and
scope of the proprietary rights of others. We cdiddome subject to counterclaims or countersu@inagus as a result of this litigation.
Moreover, any legal disputes with customers coalase them to cease buying or using our produdaglay their purchase of our products and
could substantially damage our relationship witnth

For example, in May 2008, the Companyaéd discussions with Google, Inc. regarding then@any's claims that Google has infringed
on a U.S. Patent assigned to the Company relagngrglly to "rank multiplication” in memory modulé3n August 29, 2008, Google filed a
declaratory judgment lawsuit against the Companyriited States District Court for the Northern Bittof California, seeking a declaration
that Google did not infringe on the Company's patend that the Company's patent is invalid. Godgyleot seeking any monetary damages
November 18, 2008, the Company filed a countercfaininfringement of the patent by Google. The Campexpects to vigorously pursue
claim against Google and to vigorously defend agfaBoogle's claim of invalidity.

Any litigation, regardless of its outcomeuld be time consuming and costly to resolve, digar management's time and attention and
negatively impact our results of operations.

If we are required to obtain licenses to use thirgbarty intellectual property and we fail to do so, air business could be harmed.

Although some of the components used infioaf products contain the intellectual properfyttard parties, we believe that our suppliers
bear the sole responsibility to obtain any rightd Bcenses to such third party intellectual propewhile we have no knowledge that any third
party licensor disputes our belief, we cannot asgou that disputes will not arise in the futurbeToperation of our business and our ability to
compete successfully depends significantly on omtinued operation without claims of infringementdemands resulting from such claims,
including demands for payments of money in the fofprfor example, ongoing licensing fees.

We are also developing products to enter markets, such as the Industrial Flash Market.l8irto our current products, we may use
components in these new products that contaimtietiéctual property of third parties. While we ipl@ exercise precautions to avoid infring
on the intellectual property rights of third pastieve cannot assure you that disputes will noearis
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If it is determined that we are requiredbtain inbound licenses and we fail to obtainriges, or if such licenses are not available on
economically feasible terms, our business, opaga#sults and financial condition could be sigrifidy harmed.

If our products do not meet the quality standards dour customers, we may be forced to stop shipments products until the quality
issues are resolved.

Our customers require our products to et quality standards. Should our products neetsuch standards, our customers may
discontinue purchases from us until we are abtedolve the quality issues that are causing ustoneet the standards. Such "quality holds"
could have a significant adverse impact on ourmaes and operating results.

If our products are defective or are used in defedte systems, we may be subject to product recalls product liability claims.

If our products are defectively manufactlyreontain defective components or are used inctieéeor malfunctioning systems, we could
subject to product liability claims and productatls, safety alerts or advisory notices. While ve@éaproduct liability insurance coverage, it
may not be adequate to satisfy claims made agaéndt/e also may be unable to obtain insuranceeiriuture at satisfactory rates or in
adequate amounts. Product liability claims or pobddacalls, regardless of their ultimate outconmeild have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and reputation, and on ouriaptb attract and retain customers. In additioe, way determine that it is in our best interest
to accept product returns in circumstances wherareaot contractually obligated to do so in ottdemaintain good relations with our
customers. Accepting product returns may negativepact our operating results.

If we acquire other businesses or technologies ihe future, these acquisitions could disrupt our bugsess and harm our operating result
and financial condition.

We will evaluate opportunities to acquiresimesses or technologies that might complementwuwent product offerings or enhance our
technical capabilities. We have no experience quaimg other businesses or technologies. Acquoisitientail a number of risks that could
adversely affect our business and operating resnttkiding:

. difficulties in integrating the operations, techogikes or products of the acquired compar

. the diversion of management's time and attentiom fihe normal daily operations of the business;

. insufficient increases in net sales to offset insezl expenses associated with acquisitions orrachcompanies;

. difficulties in retaining business relationshipgwsuppliers and customers of the acquired compg

. the overestimation of potential synergies or ayelaealizing those synergie

. entering markets in which we have no or limitedexignce and in which competitors have stronger ptgs&sitions; and
. the potential loss of key employees of the acqui@dpanies.

Future acquisitions also could cause usdor debt or be subject to contingent liabilitigsaddition, acquisitions could cause us to issue
equity securities that could dilute the ownershepcpntages of our existing stockholders. Furthegmacquisitions may result in material
charges or adverse tax consequences, substargiaciiion, deferred compensation charges, in-poesearch
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and development charges, the amortization of ansaetdted to deferred stock-based compensatiomegpnd identifiable purchased
intangible assets or impairment of goodwill, anyathrof which could negatively affect our resulfsoperations.

If we do not effectively manage future growth, ouresources, systems and controls may be strained andr results of operations may
suffer.

We have in the past expanded our operatlmth domestically and internationally. Any futgewth may strain our resources,
management information and telecommunication systamd operational and financial controls. To marfature growth effectively,
including the expansion in our new manufacturinglity in the PRC, we must be able to improve arpand our systems and controls. We
may not be able to do this in a timely or cost-@ffee manner, and our current systems and contmalg not be adequate to support our future
operations. In addition, our officers have reldiMamited experience in managing a rapidly growlmgsiness or a public company. As a result,
they may not be able to provide the guidance nacg$s manage future growth or maintain future neagosition. Any failure to manage our
growth or improve or expand our existing systent @mtrols, or unexpected difficulties in doing sould harm our business.

Our internal controls over financial reporting may not be effective, which could have a significant ahadverse effect on our business.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act @28nd the rules and regulations of the SecutiesExchange Commission, which we
collectively refer to as Section 404, require usvaluate our internal controls over financial néjpg to allow management to report on those
internal controls as of the end of each year. 8eetD4 will also require our independent registgreblic accounting firm to attest to the
effectiveness of our internal controls over finahceporting in future periods. Effective intermaintrols are necessary for us to produce rel
financial reports and are important in our efforptevent financial fraud. In the course of ourti®ec404 evaluations, we may identify
conditions that may result in significant deficieascor material weaknesses and we may concludetir@ncements, modifications or changes
to our internal controls are necessary or desirdiriplementing any such matters would divert therdton of our management, could involve
significant costs, and may negatively impact ogules of operations.

We note that there are inherent limitationghe effectiveness of internal controls, as tteynot prevent collusion, management override
or failure of human judgment. If we fail to maintain effective system of internal controls or ifragement or our independent registered
public accounting firm were to discover materialakieesses in our internal controls, we may be urtaljpeoduce reliable financial reports or
prevent fraud, and it could harm our financial dtind and results of operations, result in a losgeestor confidence and negatively impact
our stock price.

If a standardized memory solution which addressesie demands of our customers is developed, our netiess and market share may
decline.

Many of our memory subsystems are spedfickesigned for our OEM customers' high performeaegstems. Our business would be
harmed if these high performance systems weredorbe standardized so that DRAM IC manufacturestioer companies could develop and
manufacture a commodity memory module addressiagi#mands of some or all of these high performappéications. If DRAM IC
manufacturers or other companies are able to dpwsektandardized solution, our future business Inedymited to identifying the next
generation of high performance memory demands dM©@&stomers and developing a solution that addsesseh demands. Until fully
implemented, this next generation of products nastitute a much smaller market, which may redugenet sales and market share.
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Our failure to comply with environmental laws and regulations could subject us to significant fines ahliabilities or cause us to incur
significant costs.

We are subject to various and frequentgnging U.S. federal, state and local and foreigregumental laws and regulations relating to
the protection of the environment, including thgseerning the discharge of pollutants into theasid water, the management and disposal of
hazardous substances and wastes, the cleanuptafrinated sites and the maintenance of a safe \lam#&pln particular, some of our
manufacturing processes may require us to handlelapose of hazardous materials from time to tioe.example, in the past our
manufacturing operations have used lead-basedrdoltlee assembly of our products. Today, we uad-feee soldering technologies in our
manufacturing processes, as this is required fadysts entering the European Union. We could isalnstantial costs, including clean-up
costs, civil or criminal fines or sanctions anddhparty claims for property damage or personalrinjas a result of violations of, or
noncompliance with, environmental laws and regaofeti These laws and regulations also could reasite incur significant costs to remain in
compliance.

Economic, political and other risks associated witlinternational sales and operations could adverselgffect our net sales.

Part of our growth strategy involves maksades to foreign corporations and delivering aedpcts to facilities located in foreign
countries. To facilitate this process and to meetlong-term projected demand for our productshase set up a manufacturing facility in the
PRC, which began operations during fiscal 2007lirf8end manufacturing in foreign countries sulgacs to additional risks not present with
our domestic operations. We have begun operatibgsiness and regulatory environments in which aeeHittle or no previous experience.
We will need to overcome language and culturalieestto effectively conduct our operations in thesgironments. In addition, the economies
of the PRC and other countries have been highlgtielin the past, resulting in significant fluctisas in local currencies and other
instabilities. These instabilities affect a numbgour customers and suppliers in addition to aueifyn operations and continue to exist or may
occur again in the future. International turmoitidhe threat of future terrorist attacks, both dstically and internationally, have contributec
an uncertain political and economic climate, baotlthie U.S. and globally, and have negatively impathe worldwide economy. The
occurrence of one or more of these instabilitiadadadversely affect our foreign operations andesafour customers or suppliers, each of
which could adversely affect our net sales. In taldlj our failure to meet applicable regulatoryugments or overcome cultural barriers cc
result in production delays and increased turnfaddimes, which would adversely affect our business

Our operations could be disrupted by power outages)atural disasters or other factors.

Our current manufacturing facilities aredted in Suzhou, PRC. Due to this geographic cdration, a disruption of our manufacturing
operations, resulting from equipment failure, poVediures, quality control issues, human error, ggovnent intervention or natural disasters,
including earthquakes, fires or floods, could intet or interfere with our manufacturing operati@msl consequently harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Sdignuptions would cause significant delays in stepts of our products and adversely affect
our operating results.

Our principal stockholders have significant votingpower and may take actions that may not be in thedst interest of our other
stockholders.

As of January 3, 2009, our executive officelirectors and 5% stockholders beneficially oimrtptal, approximately 50% of our
outstanding common stock. As a result, these suidkhs, acting together, have the ability to esalistantial influence over all matters
requiring approval by our stockholders, includihg tlection and removal of directors and any pregaserger, consolidation
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or sale of all or substantially all of our assetd ather corporate transactions. This concentratfaontrol could be disadvantageous to other
stockholders with interests different from thoseof executive officers, directors and principalckholders. For example, our executive
officers, directors and principal stockholders codélay or prevent an acquisition or merger evehdftransaction would benefit other
stockholders. In addition, this significant concatibn of share ownership may adversely affectithéing price for our common stock because
investors may perceive disadvantages in owningkstocompanies with stockholders that have thetghih exercise significant control.

Anti- takeover provisions under our charter documents andelaware law could delay or prevent a change of ntrol and could also limit
the market price of our stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylasantain provisions that could delay or prevenhange of control of our company or change
our board of directors that our stockholders mightsider favorable. In addition, these provisioogla limit the price that investors would be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our commstock. The following are examples of provisiasch are included in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, each as amended:

. our board of directors authorized, without prior stockholder approvaldasignate and issue preferred stock, comm
referred to as "blank check” preferred stock, wiigiits senior to those of our common stock;

. stockholder action by written consent is prohibjted

. nominations for election to our board of directamsl the submission of matters to be acted upondakisolders at a meeting are
subject to advance notice requirements; and

. our board of directors is expressly authorized &ken alter or repeal our bylaws.

In addition, we are governed by the prarisiof Section 203 of the Delaware General Corpdratv, which may prohibit certain busine
combinations with stockholders owning 15% or mdrewr outstanding voting stock. These and othevigions in our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws, and of Delaware law caoulke it more difficult for stockholders or potettacquirors to obtain control of our boi
of directors or initiate actions that are opposgdhe then-current board of directors, includindpglng or impeding a merger, tender offer, or
proxy contest or other change of control transadtiwolving our company. Any delay or preventionaothange of control transaction or
changes in our board of directors could preventtmsummation of a transaction in which our stoddérs could receive a substantial
premium over the then-current market price forrtkbares.

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
Not Applicable.
Iltem 2. Properties

Our corporate headquarters is located pragpmately 28,700 square feet of space in Irvidaljfornia, under a lease that expires in June
2011. We continue to lease approximately 8,500 reqigeet of space in Irvine, California that prestyuhoused our manufacturing facility, and
which we are currently subleasing to another terhnis lease expires in November 2010. We alsceotsr lease approximately 43,600 square
feet of space for our manufacturing facility in fARC. This lease expires March 2012. In additiomJease offices on a monthly basis in
corporate office centers located in Taiwan, Ausliexas, Raleigh, North Carolina and Dublin, Irelavie believe that our current facilities are
adequate for our current and expected operatiarthiéonext twelve months and that additional spacebe obtained if needed.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in the sectionsitted Federal Securities Class Action, CaliforDiarivative Action and Patent Claims under
Note 10 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statameéncluded in Part IV, Item 15 of this Reportjrisorporated herein by referen

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Secity Holders
No matters were submitted to a vote of cholders in the three months ended January392
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PART Il
ltem 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities

Our common stock began trading on The NAgRD®@lobal Market under the trading symbol "NLST"avember 30, 2006, and was not
publicly traded prior to that date. The followirapte sets forth the high and low sale prices ferammmon stock on the NASDAQ Global
Market for the periods indicated:

High Low

Year Ended Janaury 3, 200¢

Fourth Quarte $ 1.1C $0.2t

Third Quartel 2.0¢ 0.91

Second Quarte 178  1.2Z

First Quartel 221 1.2z
Year Ended December 29, 200

Fourth Quarte $ 3.4C $2.11

Third Quartel 3.6( 1.67

Second Quarte 7.00C 2.9z

First Quarte! 12.4( 6.84

The approximate number of holders of ouncmn stock as of March 15, 2009 was 21.
Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid cash dividem our capital stock. Our current credit fagifitohibits the payment of cash dividends.
Accordingly, we do not anticipate declaring or peycash dividends on our capital stock in the feeable future. Any payments of cash
dividends will be at the discretion of our boarddofctors, and will depend upon our results ofrapiens, earnings, capital requirements, legal
and contractual restrictions, and other factorsrasbrelevant by our board of directors.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the three months ended January @9 2@e did not make any purchases of our commarksto
Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Our board of directors and stockholdersehaneviously approved our Amended and Restated EQ0@y Incentive Plan and our 2006
Equity Incentive Plan. Except as listed in the ¢ditlow, we do not have any equity based plankjdimg individual compensation
arrangements that have not
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been approved by our stockholders. The followidgetgprovides information as of January 3, 2009 wétpect to shares of our common stock:

Number of securities
remaining available for

Number of securities Weighted-average future issuance under
to be issued upon exercit exercise price of equity compensation plan
outstanding options
of outstanding options, (excluding securities
Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a))
(@ (b) (©)
Equity compensation plans approved by securityérs 4,031,000 $ 2.7z 530,95¢1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by sechotgler: 268,00((2) $ 1.2¢ —
Total 4,299,000 $ 2.6 530,95¢

1) Subject to certain adjustments, beginning Janua®®Q@9, we currently are able to issue a maximu,@d0,000 shares of comm
stock pursuant to awards granted under our 200&\Ebpeentive Plan. That maximum number will autdioally increase on the first
day of each calendar year by the lesser of (i)@@Dshares and (ii) such smaller number of shar@say be determined by our boarc
directors prior to that date.

(2) Consists of

0] 18,000 warrants to purchase shares of our comnoak &sued to non-employees for services rendé&gof January 3, 2009,
all warrants were fully vested and exercisable.

(ii) 250,000 options to purchase shares of our comnoak ssued to our Senior Vice President of SalesMarketing in
connection with his hiring in April 2008. The opti®vest over a period of 4 years at an exercise i $1.29 per share and
contain a contractual term of 10 years from the d@éigrant.

See Note 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financiak8tants, included in Part IV, Item 15 of the Repfant,additional information on
equity compensation plans.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the three months ended January @9 2@e did not sell any unregistered securities.
Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data
As a Smaller Reporting Company, we arereqtired to make any disclosure pursuant to teis I6.
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Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis &inancial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should bad in conjunction with our audited
consolidated financial statements and the relatetgs included elsewhere in this Report. In additmhistorical consolidated financial
information, the following discussion and analysimitains forward-looking statements that involaksi, uncertainties, estimates and
assumptions. Our actual results could differ matidyifrom those anticipated by these forward-logkstatements as a result of many factors,
including those discussed in this Report underKRigctors".

Overview

We design, manufacture and sell high peréorce memory subsystems for the server, high pedoece computing and communications
markets. Our memory subsystems consist of dynaanidam access memory integrated circuits, or DRAKB] KLAND flash memory, or
NAND, and other components assembled on a pririteditboard, or PCB. We engage with our originglipgment manufacturer, or OEI
customers from the earliest stages of new prodefatition, which provides us unique insight inteihfull range of system architecture and
performance requirements. This close collabordt@malso allowed us to develop a significant lefalystems expertise. We leverage a
portfolio of proprietary technologies and desigchigiques, including efficient planar design, algive packaging techniques and custom
semiconductor logic, to deliver memory subsysteritlk tigh memory density, small form factor, highrsal integrity, attractive thermal
characteristics and low cost per bit.

Due to their importance to overall systewh#decture and performance, our products must ngudiengthy qualification reviews by our
OEM customers, which may last up to six months orenin addition, in order to establish large OEMtomers, we have typically been
required to demonstrate our ability to meet sstahdards for quality, customer service and tunmaddime by first supplying less complex
products into a limited range of high volume apgions. Consistent with the concentrated natute@fOEM customer base in our target
markets, a small number of large customers haverfdally accounted for a significant portion ofrmet sales. Dell and Hewlett Packard
represented approximately 58% and 32%, respectofadyr net sales in fiscal 2008 and approximab&lye and 23%, respectively, of our net
sales in fiscal 2007. Net sales to some of our Giastomers include memory modules that are qualifieds directly with the OEM customer
and sold to electronic manufacturing services mters, or EMSs, for incorporation into products nfaotured exclusively for the OEM
customer. These net sales to EMSs have historiftatijuated period by period as a portion of thaltoet sales to these OEM customers. Net
sales to Hon Hai Precision Industry Co. Ltd., anEtlat purchases memory modules from us for incatfmm into products manufactured
exclusively for Dell, represented approximately 1@Pour net sales to Dell for fiscal 2008 and apprately 57% of our net sales to Dell for
fiscal 2007.

Key Business Metrics

The following describes certain line item®ur consolidated statements of operations tfeiraportant to management's assessment of
our financial performance:

Net Sales. Net sales consist primarily of sales of outhhjgerformance memory subsystems, net of a provisioestimated returns unc
our right of return policies, which generally rangeto 30 days. We generally do not have long-tesitas agreements with our customers.
Although OEM customers typically provide us withrAlminding forecasts of future product demand ovecsigeperiods of time, they genera
place orders with us approximately two weeks inaaxbe of scheduled delivery. Selling prices areciihy negotiated monthly, based on
competitive market conditions and the current pdEBRAM ICs and NAND. Purchase orders generallyehao cancellation or rescheduling
penalty provisions. We often ship our productsuo @ustomers' international manufacturing sites oAbur sales to date, however, are
denominated in United States, or U.S.,
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dollars. We also sell excess component inventolyRAM ICs and NAND to distributors and other usefsnemory ICs. As compared to
previous years, component inventory sales havefisigntly decreased as a percentage of net salasesult of our efforts to diversify both our
customer and product line bases. This diversificaéffort has also allowed us to use componenaswider range of memory subsystems. We
expect that component inventory sales will contitiueepresent a minimal portion of our net saleifare periods.

Cost of Sales. Our cost of sales includes the cost of matgriaknufacturing costs, depreciation and amortinaif equipment,
inventory valuation provisions, stock-based compéor and occupancy costs and other allocated fixsts. The DRAM ICs and NAND
incorporated into our products constitute a sigaifit portion of our cost of sales, and thus out ebsales will fluctuate based on the current
price of DRAM ICs and NAND. We attempt to pass tigb such DRAM IC and NAND flash memory cost fludtaas to our customers by
frequently renegotiating pricing prior to the plamnt of their purchase orders. To the extent wesaceessful, a large majority of our product
cost is variable, and thus our cost of sales andsgmargin percentages may not be significanthanted by changes in sales volume. Howv
the sales prices of our memory subsystems carflatdaate due to competitive situations unrelatethe pricing of DRAM ICs and NAND,
which affects gross margins. The gross margin arsales of excess component DRAM IC and NAND inggnts much lower than the gross
margin on our sales of our memory subsystems. resuit, a decrease in DRAM IC and NAND inventoriesas a percentage of our overall
sales could result in an improved overall grossgimaie assess the valuation of our inventoriea aronthly basis and record a provision to
cost of sales as necessary to reduce inventoribe tower of cost or net realizable value.

Research and DevelopmentResearch and development expense consistsrpyimiaemployee and independent contractor
compensation and related costs, stock-based comjpamscomputer-aided design software licensesreefe design development costs,
patent-related fees, depreciation or rental ofuatédn equipment, and occupancy and other alloaatechead costs. Also included in research
and development expense are the costs of matedabeerhead related to the production of engingesamples of new products under
development or products used solely in the reseamdndevelopment process. Our customers typicallyal separately compensate us for
design and engineering work involved in develompglication-specific products for them. All resdaend development costs are expensed as
incurred. We anticipate that research and develapependitures will increase in future periodsvasseek to expand new product
opportunities, increase our activities relatedéwand emerging markets and continue to developiadal proprietary technologies.

Selling, General and Administrative.Selling, general and administrative expensesisbprimarily of employee salaries and related
costs, stock-based compensation, independentrepliessentative commissions, professional servgresnotional and other selling and
marketing expenses, and occupancy and other albecaterhead costs. A significant portion of ouliisglefforts is directed at building
relationships with OEMs and other customers andimgrthrough the product approval and qualificatiwocess with them. Therefore, the ¢
of material and overhead related to products mawfed for qualification is included in selling exgses. As we continue to service existing
and establish new customers, we anticipate thasales and marketing expenses will increase. Begirin fiscal 2009, we anticipate being
subject to attestation services requirements veisipect to our internal control over financial rejpay, the result of which will increase legal
accounting expenses in future periods.

Provision (Benefit) for Income TaxesThe federal statutory rate was 35% for fis@0&and 2007. The Company's effective tax rate
differs from the 35% statutory rate primarily deetlie establishment of a partial valuation alloweadaring fiscal 2008 as further discussed in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statementiited elsewhere in this report which caused usd¢ond a provision for incorr
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taxes for the year ended January 3, 2009 as comhparecording a benefit for income taxes for tharyended December 29, 2007.
Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of our consolidated finahstatements in conformity with accounting prinegpgenerally accepted in the U.S. require
to make estimates and assumptions that affecepherted amounts of assets and liabilities and asces of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the consolidated financial statememdistie reported amounts of net sales and expensieg dhe reporting period. By their nature,
these estimates and assumptions are subject tdharent degree of uncertainty. We base our estimateur historical experience, knowledge
of current conditions and our beliefs of what cooddtur in the future considering available inforioat We review our estimates on an on-
going basis. Actual results may differ from thesgneates, which may result in material adversectsfen our operating results and financial
position. We believe the following critical accoing policies involve our more significant assumpsand estimates used in the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements:

Revenue Recognition.We recognize revenues in accordance with tHe'SEtaff Accounting Bulletin No. 10Revenue Recognitiqror
SAB 104. Under the provisions of SAB 104, we redpgmevenues when there is persuasive evidence afrangement, product delivery and
acceptance have occurred, the sales price is fixdéterminable, and collectibility of the resudtireceivable is reasonably assured.

We generally use customer purchase ordet®acontracts as evidence of an arrangementv@®gloccurs when goods are shipped for
customers with FOB Shipping Point terms and upaeeipe for customers with FOB Destination termsyhich time title and risk of loss
transfer to the customer. Shipping documents agd tesverify delivery and customer acceptance. ¥éess whether the sales price is fixed or
determinable based on the payment terms assoeidtethe transaction and whether the sales prisaligect to refund.

Customers are generally allowed limitedhtsgof return for up to 30 days, except for safesxgess inventories, which contain no right-of-
return privileges. Estimated returns are providedat the time of sale based on historical expedger specific identification of an event
necessitating a reserve. We offer a standard ptadarcanty to our customers and have no other gloigtment obligations. While these returns
have historically been within our expectations #mprovisions established, we cannot guarantéevdavill continue to experience similar
return rates in the future. Any significant incre@s product failure rates and the resulting prodeturns could have a material adverse effect
on our operating results for the period or periodshich such returns materialize.

We assess collectibility based on the tnemfthiness of the customer as determined by cobditks and evaluations, as well as the
customer's payment history. A portion of our shiptsere made to third party inventory warehouseblpbs, and we recognize revenue when
the inventory is pulled from the hub for use inquotion by the customer. We receive a report froendustomer on a daily basis indicating the
inventories pulled from a hub for use by the custgrand perform a daily reconciliation of invenésrishipped to and pulled by the customer to
those inventories reflected on the customer's tegorensure that sales are recognized in the ppate periods. We have historically had good
visibility into the inventories on-hand at hub Itioas and also what our customers intend to putiwieach reporting period. However, if a
customer does not pull our inventory from its hataccordance with the schedule it originally preddo us, our predicted future revenues
could vary from our forecasts and our results afrafons could be materially and adversely affectettiitionally, since we own inventories
that are physically located in hubs, our abilityeféectively manage inventory levels may be impiausing our inventory turns to decrease,
which would increase expenses associated with eaed obsolete inventories and negatively impactash flow.
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All amounts billed to customers relatediipping and handling are classified as net salbBe all costs incurred by us for shipping and
handling are classified as cost of sales.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. Our financial instruments consist principalfycash and cash equivalents, investments in
marketable securities, accounts receivable, aceqayable, accrued expenses and debt instrumdfesti®e December 30, 2007, we adopted
SFAS No. 157Fair Value Measurement§SFAS 157"), which defines fair value, establishdsamework for measuring fair value in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the U.S. and expands required disclosabest fair value measurements. Pursuant
to SFAS 157, other than for certain investmentsuction rate securities (see Note 4 to the consi@difinancial statements included elsewhere
in this report), the fair value of the Company'stcequivalents and investments in marketable séxui$ determined based on quoted prices in
active markets for identical assets, or Level lutspWe believe that the carrying values of alkotfinancial instruments approximate their
current fair values due to their nature and respedurations.

Warranty Reserve. We offer warranties on our memory subsystenmegly ranging from one to three years, dependim¢he product
and negotiated terms of purchase agreements witbustiomers. Such warranties require us to repaimace defective product returned to us
during the warranty period at no cost to the custor®ur estimates for warrantgtated costs are recorded at the time of saledbasdistorica
and estimated future product return rates and eggeaepair or replacement costs. While such caste historically been within our
expectations and the provisions established, uritggdehanges in failure rates could have a matadiaérse impact on us, requiring additional
warranty reserves, and adversely affecting ourgyposfit and gross margins.

Accounts Receivable. We perform credit evaluations of our customi@nsincial condition and limit the amount of creditended to our
customers as deemed necessary, but generally eaguirollateral. We continuously monitor collecéand payments from our customers and
maintain a provision for estimated credit losseselaupon our historical experience and any spemifitomer collection issues that we have
identified. Generally, these credit losses havenlwéhin our expectations and the provisions esthbd. However, we cannot guarantee that
we will continue to experience credit loss ratesilsir to those we have experienced in the past.

Our accounts receivable are highly conetatt among a small number of customers, and disigmi change in the liquidity or financial
position of one of these customers could have @nmahtadverse effect on the collectibility of owcaunts receivable, our liquidity and our
future operating results.

Inventories. We value our inventories at the lower of thieuakcost to purchase or manufacture the inverdothe net realizable value
of the inventory. Cost is determined on an averagt basis which approximates actual cost on tifirdirst-out basis and includes raw
materials, labor and manufacturing overhead. Welagly review inventory quantities on hand and otles and record a provision for excess
and obsolete inventories based primarily on oumeged forecast of product demand and productigairements for the next three to six
months. In addition, we consider changes in theketaralue of DRAM ICs and NAND in determining thetmealizable value of our raw
material inventory. Once established, any write d@ware considered permanent adjustments to théasist of our inventories. A significant
decrease in demand for our products could res@hiimcrease in the amount of excess inventorytgieson hand. In addition, our estimates
of future product demand may prove to be inaccyratehich case we may have understated or overstae provision required for excess
obsolete inventory. In the future, if our invené&sriare determined to be overvalued, we would bainextjto recognize additional expense in
cost of sales at the time of such determinatiokeWwise, if our inventories are determined to beaimalued, we may have over-reported our
costs of sales in previous periods and would beired to recognize additional gross profit at tineet such inventories are sold. In addition,
should the market value of DRAM ICs or
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NAND decrease significantly, we may be requiretbteer our selling prices to reflect the lower cosbur raw materials. If such prit
decreases reduce the net realizable value of ganiaries to less than our cost, we would be regluio recognize additional expense in our
cost of sales in the same period. Although we nealezy reasonable effort to ensure the accuracyiofarecasts of future product demand,
significant unanticipated changes in demand, telclyimal developments or the market value of DRAM i@ NAND could have a material
effect on the value of our inventories and our reggboperating results.

Long-Lived Assets. We review the recoverability of the carryindusof long-lived assets on an annual basis or ehenevents or
changes in circumstances indicate that the cargmgunt of an asset may not be recoverable. Regloligr of these assets is determined
based upon the forecasted undiscounted futureasétftows from the operations to which the assstde, utilizing our best estimates,
appropriate assumptions and projections at the fithese projected future cash flows may vary siggiftly over time as a result of increased
competition, changes in technology, fluctuationdémand, consolidation of our customers and redustin average selling prices. If the
carrying value is determined not to be recoverébolen future operating cash flows, the asset is dmkimpaired and an impairment loss is
recognized to the extent the carrying value excéeelgstimated fair market value of the asset.

Stock-Based CompensationWe account for equity issuances to non-empkyeaccordance with Emerging Issues Task Foreglss
No. 9¢-18, Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issug@®ther Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjiime with Selling, Goods al
Services All transactions in which goods or services & ¢onsideration received for the issuance of gdustruments are accounted for
based on the fair value of the consideration rexxkir the fair value of the equity instrument iskughichever is more reliably measurable.
measurement date used to determine the fair vélthe@quity instrument issued is the earlier @f date on which the third-party performance
is complete or the date on which it is probable geaformance will occur.

On January 1, 2006, we adopted SFAS No(R)2Share-Based Paymenor SFAS 123R, which requires the measurement and
recognition of compensation expense for all stoakeldl payment awards made to our employees andadgdased on estimated fair values.

We currently use the Black-Scholes optidnipg model to estimate the fair value of our coomstock option awards. While this model
meets the requirements of SFAS 123R, the estinfatedalues generated by it may not be indicatif/ehe actual fair values of these awards as
it does not consider certain factors importanhtuse awards to employees, such as continued emetdyand periodic vesting requirements as
well as limited transferability. The Black-Scholasdel requires subjective assumptions regardingdgtock price volatility and expected
time to exercise, along with assumptions aboutitgiefree interest rate and expected dividendsyfalvhich affect the estimated fair values of
our common stock option awards. The expected téroptions granted is derived from historical dateemployee exercises and post-vesting
employment termination behavior. The expected iuiiats based on the historical volatilities ofetftommon stock of comparable publicly
traded companies based on our belief that we dlyreave limited historical data regarding the vty of our stock price on which to base a
meaningful estimate of expected volatility. Theé+isee rate selected to value any particular gimbased on the U.S. Treasury rate that
corresponds to the expected term of the granttéfeeas of the date of the grant. The expectedidivils assumption is based on our history
expectation of dividend payouts. We evaluate tlseiaptions used to value our common stock optionrdsvan a quarterly basis. If factors
change and we employ different assumptions, stesleth compensation expense may differ significdrily what we have recorded in prior
periods.

The value of the portion of stock-basedrawadhat are ultimately expected to vest is recgphias expense over the requisite service
periods in our financial statements. Given thatlstoased
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compensation expense recognized in our financigéistents is based on awards ultimately expectedd it has been reduced for estimated
forfeitures. SFAS 123R requires forfeitures to beneated at the time of grant and revised, if neapg in subsequent periods if actual
forfeitures differ from those estimates. If there any modifications or cancellations of the ungieg unvested stock-based awards, we may be
required to accelerate, increase or cancel anyinémgaunearned stock-based compensation expensgersiock-based compensation expense
and unearned stock-based compensation will incrieetbee extent that we grant additional commonistqations or other stock-based awards.

Income Taxes. We recognize deferred tax assets and liatsilliesed on the differences between the finaneitdrsent carrying values
and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Wela€yg review our deferred tax assets for recovilitgland establish a valuation allowance,
when determined necessary, based on historicablieacome, projected future taxable income, ardetkpected timing of the reversals of
existing temporary differences. If we operate kitsa for an extended period of time or are unablgenerate sufficient future taxable income,
or if there is a material change in the actualatfée tax rates or time period within which the argling temporary differences become taxable
or deductible, we could be required to record aatbn allowance against all or a significant portof our deferred tax assets which could
substantially increase our effective tax rate fatsperiod. Any significant changes in statutomyri@es or the amount of our valuation
allowance could have a material effect on the valfusur deferred tax assets and liabilities, andreported financial results. In the future, if
we realize a deferred tax asset that currentlyese valuation allowance, we may record a redodtiancome tax expense in the period of
such realization.

We adopted Financial Accounting StandardarB, or FASB, Interpretation No. 48ccounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An
Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 7, or FIN 48, on December 31, 2006, the first dapwffiscal 2007. FIN 48 seeks to reduce the
diversity in practice associated with certain aspet measurement and recognition in accountingnicmme taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a
recognition threshold and measurement requirenzerhé financial statement recognition of a taxitims that has been taken or is expected to
be taken on a tax return and also provides guidanae-recognition, classification, interest andgles, accounting in interim periods,
disclosure, and transition. Under FIN 48 we mayaatognize or continue to recognize tax posititrag meet a "more likely than not"
threshold.

The application of tax laws and regulatimsubject to legal and factual interpretatiomigonent and uncertainty. Tax laws and regulat
themselves are subject to change as a result afelan fiscal policy, changes in legislation, #velution of regulations and court rulings.
Therefore, the actual liability for U.S. or foreitaxes may be materially different from our estiesatwvhich could result in the need to record
additional tax liabilities or potentially reverseepiously recorded tax liabilities.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consatied statements of operations as a percentagé séles for the years indicated:

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007
Net sales 10C% 10C%
Cost of sale: 89 91
Gross profil 11 9
Operating expense
Research and developme 10 5
Selling, general and administrati 19 16
Total operating expens: 29 21
Operating los! (18) 12
Other income (expense
Interest income, ne¢ — —
Other income (expense), r — —
Total other income, n¢ — —
Loss before provision (benefit) for income ta (18) (12)
Provision (benefit) for income tax 5 4
Net loss (23)% (N%

Year Ended January 3, 2009 Compared to the Year Ended December 29, 2007
Net Sales, Cost of Sales and Gross Profit

The following table presents net salest obsales and gross profit for the years endedagr3, 2009 and December 29, 2007 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
%
2009 2007 Decrease  Change
Net sales $67,01: $ 100,06( $(33,049  (33)%
Cost of sale: 59,46( 91,26: (31,807  (35%
Gross profit $ 7551 $ 8,79¢ $ (1,24% (14)%
Gross margir 11.2% 8.6% 2.5%

Net Sales. The overall decrease in our net sales duriag/éar ended January 3, 2009 as compared to thewyead December 29, 2007
was primarily driven by the slower than expectealrgh in sales of certain of our flash and high dgreerver modules, as well as a decline in
net sales of memory subsystems used to controhdzohi arrays of independent disks, or RAIDs, assalt of certain key programs and des
nearing an end-of-life in 2008. Additionally, owgtrsales were adversely affected to a lesser elyyethte fact that during the second half of
2008 the market price of mainstream DRAM IC's daseel by approximately 64%, which affected thersglfirices of certain of our products.
The decrease in our net sales during the curremtwas partially offset, however, by strong growtiour line of low-power fully buffered dual
in-line memory modules, or FBDIMMSs, which experieneesignificant ramp in sales volume to certain k&MDcustomers beginning in 20(
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The decrease in net sales for the yearcedaeuary 3, 2009 as compared to the year endeshiber 29, 2007 resulted primarily from
decreases of (i) $10.2 million in sales of laptepspnal computer memory subsystems, and (ii) $2@lion in sales of memory systems used
to control Redundant Arrays of Independent Disk$RAIDs, and (iii) $1.3 million in sales of otheremory products, primarily with respect to
certain of our upgrade and distribution businestauers that were affected by the overall downwaadket in 2007 and 2008. These
decreases were partially offset by increases isales for 2008 as compared to 2007 of (i) $5.8aniin sales of server related products and
(i) $1.0 million of Flash memory products.

Should market price declines for DRAM IGNAND continue, our net sales could be adversalydcted in future periods as we lower
prices on some products to meet market conditions.

Sales of our component inventory to distidios and other users of memory ICs representebrippately 1% and 2% of net sales for the
years ended January 3, 2009 and December 29, g&pé&ctively. As compared to previous years, corapbimventory sales have significan
decreased as a percentage of net sales as aafesuttefforts to use similar components in a widsrge of memory subsystems.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin. Gross profit for the year ended January 3, 2808ompared to the year ended December 29, 2007
decreased primarily due to the decrease in net salisveen the two years. Declines in product goosfits were partially offset by a decreas
manufacturing costs due to the shift in productmour facility in Suzhou in the People's RepublicChina, or PRC, as well as better supply
chain and inventory management during the year.deoéines in both gross profit and gross margidda8 were partially due to certain shifts
in product mix that provided lower margin contriloms. To the extent that DRAM IC market prices amm to decline, or should our product
sales mix continue to be weighted with lower mamioducts such as laptop memory, our gross pgritss margin and overall operating
results could be adversely affected in future pkvio

Research and Development

The following table presents research aktbpment expenses for the years ended Januafp3,and December 29, 2007 (in thouse
except percentages):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
%
2009 2007 Increase  Change
Research and developm $ 6871 $ 4,74t $2,12:% 45%

The increase in research and developmergrses for the year ended January 3, 2009 as cethfzathe year ended December 29, 2007
resulted primarily from increases of $2.2 milliongersonnel-related expenses as a result of asaserin the number of employees and outside
contractors engaged in research and developmamitiastsince December 29, 2007, and expensesrktatchanges in our employee insur:
plan coverage premiums and matching contributiorsut employee 401(k) plan, and $0.1 million indegnd professional services fees as we
increased activities related to patent protectiwth flings during 2008. These increases were dhriidfset by decreases of $0.2 million in
purchases of equipment and software specific tineegng as well as allocated overhead.
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Selling, General and Administrative

The following table presents selling, gehand administrative expenses for the years eddedary 3, 2009 and December 29, 2007 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢

%
2009 2007 Decreas¢  Change

Selling, general and administrati $12,92¢ $ 15,90 $(2,97)) (19)%

The decrease in selling, general and adinéative expenses for the year ended January 3, @9@ompared to the year ended
December 29, 2007 resulted primarily from decrea$€¢g $1.8 million in personnel-related expensash as recruiting fees and fewer
contractors engaged in selling, general and adirétiige activities since December 29, 2007, inalgdieduced headcount from reduction in
force in the U.S. as manufacturing transitione@lhina and lower overall net sales in 2008 as coethty 2007, (ii) $0.4 million in
commission-related expenses, (iii) $0.6 milliorpodduct qualification activities, travel and otlests, and (iv) $0.6 million in legal and
professional services as a result of reimbursewfeatmajority of the legal fees for litigation-reda matters as further discussed in Note 10 of
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements inclieselwhere in this Report. The decreases in selliegeral and administrative expenses
partially offset by increases of $0.2 million indbdebt expense and $0.2 million in various allodateerhead expenses which include, but are
not limited to, expenses for rent of the corpofatdlities, office equipment and related depreciati

Other Income, Net

The following table presents other incomepgnse) for the years ended January 3, 2009 acehiiteer 29, 2007 (in thousands, except
percentages):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
Increase %
2009 2007 (Decrease  Change
Interest income, ne $ 47z $ 39t $§ 78 20%
Other income (expense), r (137 16 (153  (956)%
Total other income, ne $ 33 $ 411 $ (79 (18)%

Net interest income for the year ended dan8, 2009 was comprised of interest income of@gmately $0.7 million, partially offset by
interest expense of approximately $0.3 million. Mégrest income for the year ended December 297 2as comprised of interest income of
approximately $1.7 million, partially offset by arest expense of approximately $1.3 million. Thaéase in net interest income of $78,000
during fiscal 2008 as compared to fiscal 2007 tesuprimarily from (i) a decrease in interest exgeenf $0.9 million due to our lower
outstanding line of credit and debt balances in8289)compared to 2007, offset by (ii) a decreagetémest income earned on cash equivalents
and marketable securities (attributable to the geds from our IPO in December 2006) compared t@ 200

Other income (expense), net, primarily igedls gains and losses on foreign currency tramsecin fiscal 2008 and losses on dispositions
of property and equipment.
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Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes

The following table presents the provis{banefit) for income taxes for the years ended dgn8, 2009 and December 29, 2007 (in
thousands, except percentages):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢

%
2009 2007 Increase  Change

Provision (benefit) for income tax $ 3,301 $ (4,02%) $7,32¢ 182%

The federal statutory rate was 35% fordiR008 and 2007. The Company's effective taxddters from the 35% statutory rate primarily
due to the establishment of a valuation allowanaing fiscal 2008 as further discussed in Note €tvicaused us to record a provision for
income taxes for the year ended January 3, 2088rapared to recording a benefit for income taxedtfe year ended December 29, 2007.

We use the liability method of accounting ihcome taxes as set forth in SFAS No. 18&ounting for Income Taxe$Ve record net
deferred tax assets to the extent we believe thesets will more likely than not be realized. Irking such determination, we consider all
available positive and negative evidence, includiclgeduled reversals of deferred tax liabilitiesjgcrted future income, tax planning
strategies, and recent financial performance inotudarryback opportunities to the extent available

As a result of our adoption of FIN 48 isdal 2007, we recorded an increase in the netitiafr unrecognized tax positions of
approximately $0.2 million, which was recorded asadjustment to the beginning balance of accumdldégicit as of December 31, 2006, the
first day of fiscal 2007.

Included in the unrecognized tax benefitdamuary 3, 2009 was approximately $0.6 milliotasf positions that, if recognized, would
affect our annual effective tax rate. Our contigupractice is to recognize accrued interest andltiea related to unrecognized tax benefits
component of tax expense. This policy did not cleaaga result of the adoption of FIN 48. At Janigr2009, we had approximately
$0.1 million accrued for interest and $0 accruadpfenalties. The Company's unrecognized tax banmfity change over the next 12 months as
the statute of limitations on certain open yearsrex

In fiscal 2008, the Company began operatimder tax holidays in the PRC, which are effectieen January 2008 through December
2012. Since the Company operated at a loss inRt@ iR 2008, it did not realize any benefit to itmsolidated results of operations in 2008
attributable to the tax holidays.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have historically financed our operagigmimarily through issuances of equity and debtigges and cash generated from operations.
We have also funded our operations with a revolliimg of credit under our bank credit facility, é@tized lease obligations, financing of
receivables and from the sale and leaseback addamestic manufacturing facility.
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Working Capital and Cash and Marketable Securities

The following table presents working capitash and cash equivalents and investments iketedrle securities (in thousands):

January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Working capital $22,33¢ $ 27,38
Cash and cash equivalents $15,21« $ 7,18
Shor-term marketable securities( 5,19¢ 15,57
Long-term marketable securiti 96C 7,81¢

$21,37¢  $ 30,56¢

(2) Included in working capital

Our working capital decreased in the yemteel January 3, 2009 primarily as a result ofglithes in certain current operating assets and
liabilities, primarily due to the overall decline net sales during the year (ii) the establishroéatvaluation allowance against deferred tax
assets, and (iii) the net paydown of the revolNing of credit. These decreases were partiallyedffy a net increase in cash and cash
equivalents resulting from the sale of short-termd bpng-term marketable securities.

Cash Provided and Used in the Years Ended January 3, 2009 and December 29, 2007

The following table summarizes our caslwfidor the periods indicated:

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007
Net cash provided by (used in)
Operating activitie: $(2,370 $ 14,07¢
Investing activities 16,05 (22,927
Financing activitie: (5,649 (14,94°)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ 8,032 $ (23,799

Operating Activities. Net cash used in operating activities for tearyended January 3, 2009 was primarily the re$l} approximatel
$8.6 million in net non-cash operating expensesnipaomprised of depreciation and amortizatiorgyision for bad debts, stock-based
compensation, impairment of long-lived assets afdrded income taxes and (ii) approximately $4.Bioniin net cash provided by changes in
operating assets and liabilities, offset by a as$ lof approximately $15.2 million.

Accounts receivable decreased approxim&el9 million during fiscal 2008 primarily as a uésof the overall decline in our net sales
during the year. During 2008, we were successfabitecting cash from sales to our customers sakatly in accordance with our standard
payment terms to those customers.

Inventories decreased approximately $118amiduring fiscal 2008 primarily as a result bitoverall decline in our net sales during the
year. In the future, our inventory levels will conte to be determined based on, among other fadtmdevel of customer orders received
overall demand as well as the stage at which cadymts are in their respective life cycles and cetitipe situations
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in the marketplace. We make efforts to balance socisiderations against the risk of obsolesceng®tantially excess inventory levels.

Accounts payable decreased approximate§ $llion during fiscal 2008 primarily as a resaftan overall decline in materials
purchasing levels during the year given our dedlineet sales. Cash payments primarily for the lpase of manufacturing materials and rel
goods for resale to our customers used net opgratish of approximately $4.9 million during 2008.

Net cash provided by operating activitiesthe year ended December 29, 2007 was priméx@yesult of (i) approximately $5.7 million
in net non-cash operating expenses, mainly congpaeventory adjustments, depreciation and arratiton, stock-based compensation,
impairment of long-lived assets and deferred inctemes and (ii) approximately $15.8 million in messh provided by changes in operating
assets and liabilities, partially offset by a re=td of approximately $7.4 million. The changesperating assets and liabilities during fiscal Z
which had a significant impact on cash providedpgrating activities included (i) a decrease imacds receivable of approximately
$11.7 million, (ii) a decrease in inventories opegximately $16.1 million due in part to sales mfentories on hand during the year to our
customers, which generated net cash proceeds ohapately $10.8 million and a loss of approximgt$5.3 million due to slow moving and
lower-of-cost-or-market value inventory adjustmeatsd (iii) a decrease in accounts payable of apmrately $5.0 million. In addition to the
factors described above, all such decreases iratipgrassets and liabilities were primarily dugh® overall decline in the level of sales and
related operating activities during 2007 as comgp&ne2006.

Investing Activities. Net cash provided by investing activities foe tyear ended January 3, 2009 was primarily thétreSproceeds
from the maturities and sales of marketable seeardf approximately $23.6 million, partially offsey purchases of investments in marketable
securities of approximately $6.4 million. In 2008 wontinued to invest remaining net proceeds framirgtial public offering, or IPO, in
various marketable securities investments in caimeavith our efforts to both preserve capital adlas achieve competitive returns on our
investments. We also used approximately $1.2 milliocash primarily to purchase equipment and lealseémprovements related to our new
facilities in the PRC and in Irvine, California.

Net cash used in investing activities fue year ended December 29, 2007 was primarilyebeltrof purchases of additional investments
in marketable securities of approximately $63.3ionil partially offset by proceeds received fromtordies and sales of certain investments in
marketable securities of approximately $46.6 milli;m 2007 we continued to invest the majorityted proceeds from our IPO in various
marketable securities investments in connectioh witr efforts to both preserve capital as well@dseve competitive returns on our
investments. We also used approximately $6.3 milliocash primarily to purchase equipment and lealseémprovements related to our
facilities in the PRC and in Irvine, California.

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities for tlearyended January 3, 2009 was primarily the re$uiet repayments
on our outstanding revolving line of credit of appmately $4.9 million, along with net repaymentsaur long term debt of approximately
$0.8 million.

Net cash used in financing activities fog year ended December 29, 2007 was primarilyabeltrof net repayments on our outstanding
revolving line of credit of approximately $14.4 figh, along with net repayments on our long terrbtae approximately $1.0 million. These
repayments were slightly offset by approximately3$@illion in cash provided through the exercisestofck options during 2007.
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Under our revolving line of credit, we miagrrow up to the greater of 85% of eligible acceuriceivable plus the lessor of (i) a
percentage of eligible inventory determined fromeito time by our bank, (ii) 80% of the orderlydidation value, as defined, of eligible
inventories, and (iii) $1 million.

In May 2008, we executed a ninth amendrt@otr credit agreement, which was effective athefbeginning of our second fiscal quarter
of 2008. Among other things, the amendment revisgthin financial and other covenants which weraggiired to comply. The amendment
requires us to (i) limit capital expenditures undetefined annual cap, (i) achieve certain minimmaonthly profitability thresholds and
(iif) maintain a minimum liquidity threshold as tife end of each month. Additionally, the amendmewised the interest rate on our
borrowings on the revolving line of credit to fluate between the prime rate and prime plus 0.5%dagr combined monthly account bala
with the bank. Furthermore, under the amendmemthonrevolving equipment financing line of crediaswevised to allow us to borrow up to
an additional maximum of $0.9 million to finance twp80% of the cost of equipment purchases thrabgkend of fiscal 2008. Principal on any
of these additional borrowings is scheduled todpaid in 42 equal monthly installments commencengudry 1, 2009. Interest on our existing
and future equipment line of credit advances isapy monthly at the prime rate.

The following table presents details ofstaimding borrowings and availability under our i credit (in thousands, except percentages):

January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Outstanding borrowings on the line of cre $ — $ 487
Outstanding borrowings on the equipment line ofiit $ 45C $ 872
Borrowing availability under the line of cre« $ 1,700 $ 6,36¢
Prime rate 3.25% 7.25%

Any borrowings under our revolving and gmuent lines of credit are collateralized by a gahfirst priority lien against all of our assets,
both tangible and intangible.

In October 2008, we executed the Tenth Adngent to our Amended and Restated Credit and SgAgreement, or the Tenth
Amendment. Among other things, this amendment &irtbvised our minimum profitability financial cavent requirement. The Tenth
Amendment also revised the monthly interest rategéd on credit advances under the line of creditegjuipment line of credit to the greater
of (i) the sum of the prime rate plus 3% (ii) LIBQRus 6% or (iii) 8%.

As of January 3, 2009, we were in compleawith our financial covenants, however in Octob@d8 we were in violation of our financial
covenant related to minimum monthly profitability. October 2008, in connection with the executibthe Tenth Amendment, we received a
waiver from our lender for this covenant violatide cannot assure that we will not violate one orercovenants in the future. If we were to
be in violation of covenants under our current itragreement, our lender could choose to accelgatment on all outstanding loan balances.
There can be no assurance that we would be allaid¢kly obtain equivalent or suitable replacemémaricing in this event. If we were not a
to secure alternative sources of funding, suchlact&on would have a material adverse impact arfioancial condition.

As of January 3, 2009, the prime rate wa8% and our outstanding borrowings on our linereflit was zero.
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We have in the past utilized equipmentiteaarrangements to finance certain capital exgare. Equipment leases will continue to be a
financing alternative that we may pursue in theifeit

In order to become profitable or to achiamd sustain positive cash flows from operationhénfuture, we must further reduce operating
expenses and/or increase our revenues. Durind 8868, we have completed a series of cost reduetidions which we believe have
improved our operating cost structure. These ex@egductions alone may not make us profitablelomalis to sustain profitability if it is
achieved. Our ability to achieve the necessarymaggrowth will depend on, among other things,eased demand for our memory subsys
and related product offerings, as well as our ghiit expand into new and emerging markets. We nuype successful in achieving the
necessary revenue growth or the expected expedsetiens. Moreover, we may be unable to sustaihgrasxpected future expense reduct
in subsequent periods. We may not achieve profitgloir sustain such profitability, if achieved, amquarterly or annual basis in the future.

We believe our existing cash and investnbatdnces, borrowing availability under our bangdit facility, and the cash expected to be
generated from operations, will be sufficient toateur anticipated cash needs for at least the Iizrtonths. However, during challenging
economic times we may face issues gaining timetgseto sufficient credit, which could result irr inability to meet certain of our financial
obligations and other related commitments. Ourrkitiapital requirements will depend on many fagtoiuding our levels of net sales, the
timing and extent of expenditures to support redeand development activities, the expansion ofufenturing capacity both domestically ¢
internationally and the continued market acceptarfi@ir products. We could be required, or may slegto seek additional funding through
public or private equity or debt financings. In dihh, in connection with any future acquisitiomge may require additional funding which
be provided in the form of additional debt or egdibancing or a combination thereof. These adddidunds may not be available on terms
acceptable to us, or at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with ursodidated entities or financial partnerships, sastentities often referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, which wouldehlaeen established for the purpose of facilitatifighalance sheet arrangements or other
contractually narrow or limited purposes. In aduitiwe do not have any undisclosed borrowings bt,@nd we have not entered into any
synthetic leases. We are, therefore, not materaposed to any financing, liquidity, market orditeisk that could arise if we had engaged in
such relationships.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No.TR#® Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Bipfes("SFAS 162"). SFAS 162 is
intended to improve financial reporting by idenitify a consistent framework, or hierarchy, for sthgcaccounting principles to be used in
preparing financial statements that are presemtednformity with GAAP for nongovernmental entiti&FAS 162 is effective 60 days
following the SEC's approval of the Public Compa&mgounting Oversight Board's amendments to AU $ectil1,The Meaning of Present
Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accting Principles.We do not expect the adoption of this statemehtiee a material impact
on our consolidated results of operations, findrmgition or cash flows.

In February 2008, the FASB issued Staffites157-2 ("FSP 157-2"). FSP 157-2 permits dethgidoption of SFAS 157 for certain non-
financial assets and liabilities, which are noogrdzed at fair value on a recurring basis, uigidl years and interim periods beginning after
November 15, 2008. As permitted by FSP-2, the Company has elected to delay the adopfi®@rAS 157 for qualifying nofinancial asset
and liabilities. The Company does not believe tthepsion of SFAS 157 for its
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non-financial assets and liabilities, that arenegbgnized at fair value on a recurring basis, dVve a material impact on the Company's
consolidated results of operations or financialipms

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFASIMA(R),Business CombinatiofsSFAS 141(R)"), which replaces SFAS 141. The
provisions of SFAS 141(R) are similar to those BAS 141; however, SFAS 141(R) requires companiesdord most identifiable assets,
liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and goodvéliquired in a business combination at "full fafue." SFAS 141(R) also requires companie
record fair value estimates of contingent consiti@neand certain other potential liabilities durithge original purchase price allocation and to
expense acquisition costs as incurred. This stateapplies to all business combinations, includinmbinations by contract alone. Further,
under SFAS 141(R), all business combinations velblocounted for by applying the acquisition mett®&flAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.dd¢mpany expects SFAS 141(R) will have an impadtooonsolidated financial stateme
when effective, but the nature and magnitude ofpiexific effects will depend upon the nature, 'and size of the acquisitions that the
Company consummates after the effective date.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financ&thtement§'SFAS 160"), which
will require noncontrolling interests (previoushferred to as minority interests) to be treated agsparate component of equity, not as a
liability or other item outside of permanent equithis Statement applies to the accounting for patrolling interests and transactions with
non-controlling interest holders in consolidatethficial statements. SFAS 160 will be applied protpely to all noncontrolling interests,
including any that arose before the effective @aimept that comparative period information mustdmast to classify noncontrolling interest
equity, attribute net income and other comprehensigome to noncontrolling interests, and provitteodisclosures required by SFAS 160.
SFAS 160 is effective for periods beginning on fteraDecember 15, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 16isexpected to have a material img
on the Company's consolidated financial positiesults of operations or liquidity.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
As a Smaller Reporting Company, we arereqtiired to make any disclosure pursuant to teis I[TA.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary &a
The financial statements and supplemerdatg required by this item are included in Partiteyn 15 of this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accotemts on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of DiscloserControls and Procedures

Under the supervision and with the partitign of our management, including our principaé@xive officer and principal financial
officer, we conducted an evaluation of our disctestontrols and procedures, as such term is definBdile 13a-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchang8,Ad of the end of the period covered by thioreBased on this evaluation, our
principal executive officer and our principal fir@al officer concluded that our disclosure contratsl procedures were effective to provide
reasonable assurance that information require@ idrlosed by us in reports we file or submit urttle Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§ipe in the SEC's rules and forms,
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and is accumulated and communicated to our manageieluding our principal executive officer andngipal financial officer, as
appropriate to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosures.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for estahlisand maintaining adequate internal control divemncial reporting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supeovisind with the participation of our managemerdiuding our principal executive officer
and principal financial officer, we conducted amlenation of the effectiveness of our internal coh@iver financial reporting as of January 3,
2009 based on the criteria set forthriternal Control—Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike
Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation utigecriteria set forth ilnternal Control—Integrated Frameworlour management
concluded that our internal control over financegporting was effective as of January 3, 2009.

This Annual Report does not include ansadtiion report of our independent registered puddimounting firm regarding internal control
over financial reporting. We were not required &vé, nor have we engaged our independent regigpeitdit accounting firm to perform an
audit on our internal control over financial refogtpursuant to the rules of the Securities anchBrge Commission that permit us to provide
only management's report in this Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal @biver financial reporting during the fourth quearof fiscal 2008 that have materially affected,
or are reasonably likely to materially affect, @uternal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Internal Control

A control system, no matter how well coneeii and operated, can provide only reasonableglygiilute, assurance that the objectives of
the control system are met. Further, the benefit®ntrols must be considered relative to theitsoBecause of the inherent limitations in all
control systems, no evaluation of controls can pi®absolute assurance that all control issuesratances of fraud, if any, have been
detected. These inherent limitations include tladities that judgments in decision making can hdtyaand that breakdowns can occur bec
of simple errors. Additionally, controls can beccimvented by the individual acts of some persopgdiiusion of two or more people, or by
management override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls is also based in part upetateassumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurancerthatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gaailder all potential future conditions.
Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-éffeccontrol system, misstatements due to errdraard may occur and not be detected.

Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART Il

Certain information required by this Pdkid omitted from this Annual Report as we expiectile our definitive Proxy Statement for our
Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuant to Regafafi4A of the Exchange Act not later than 120 dHier the end of the fiscal year covered
by this Annual Report, and certain information ud#d in the Proxy Statement is incorporated hdrgireference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corprate Governance

We incorporate by reference herein theigestentitled "Election Of Directors,” "Board Ofiectors; Audit Committee Financial Expert"
And "Other Information—Section 16(a) Beneficial Osvship Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement

We have adopted a "Code of Business CorahatEthics" that applies to all employees, inalgdbur executive officers. A copy of the
Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted ointernet site atlvww.netlist.com In the event that we make any amendment to,amtgr
any waivers of, a provision of the Code of Busin@esduct and Ethics that applies to the principakative officer, principal financial officer,
or principal accounting officer that requires distire under applicable Securities and Exchangeues, we intend to disclose such
amendment or waiver and the reasons therefor omtemnet site.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item isamporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiExecutive Compensation” and "Directors’
Compensation" in our Proxy Statement.

Iltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain BeneficibOwners and Management and Related Stockholder M&trs

The information required by this Item isdmporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiSecurity Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management" and "Equity Compensatiom Rfarmation” in our Proxy Statement.

Iltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Trarections, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item isamporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiCertain Relationships and Related
Transactions" in our Proxy Statement.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by this Item isd@mporated herein by reference to the sectionledtiAuditors, Audit Fees and Auditor
Independence" in our Proxy Statement.
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Item 15.

PART IV
Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
(8)(1) All financial statements filed as parttlois report.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourf&imm F-2
Consolidated Balance She: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operati F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity@mahprehensive Lo F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flc F-6

(8)(2) Exhibits

3.1(1)
3.2(1)

10.1(2)

10.2(2)

10.5(2)

10.42)

10.52)

10.€(2)

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Netlistc.|
Amended and Restated Bylaws of Netlist, |

Amended and Restated Credit and Security Agee¢ndated as of December 27, 2003, among Neétiist, Netlist Technology
Texas, L.P. ("Netlist Texas"), and Wells Fargo Bess Credit, Inc. ("Wells Fargo'

First Amendment to Amended and Restated CeettitSecurity Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2084ng Netlist, Inc., Netlist
Texas and Wells Farg

Second Amendment to Credit and Security Agredrard Waiver of Defaults, dated as of DecembefR05, among Netlist, Inc.,
Netlist Texas and Wells Farg

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSewlirity Agreement, dated as of February 14, 288&ng Netlist, Inc.
Netlist Texas and Wells Farg

Fourth Amendment to Amended and Restated CrediSaedrity Agreement and Waiver of Defaults, datedfaApril 18, 2006
among Netlist, Inc., Netlist Texas and Wells Fal

Fifth Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSealrity Agreement, dated as of July 28, 2006, anetlist, Inc., Netlis
Texas and Wells Farg

10.7(1)#Amended and Restated 2000 Equity Incentive Plavedlist, Inc.

10.&(7)#Offer Letter to Nita Moritz dated August 16, 20

10.5(8)# Stock Option Agreement dated September 17, 200@dtons to purchase 200,000 shares of the Registrsommon stock award

10.1((3)
10.13(2)

10.14(2)

to Nita J. Moritz
Master Sales and Supply Agreement, dated as ohdady 2004, between Netlist, Inc. and Netlist Te
Management Fee Agreement, dated as of January4, Bétween Netlist, Inc. and Netlist Tex

Form of Indemnity Agreement for officers and diast

10.13(3)#Employment Agreement, dated September 5, 2006 degtwWetlist, Inc. and Chun K. Hor

10.143)#Form of Performance Incentive Agreement enterealliytNetlist, Inc. with each of Christopher Lopé&ayesh Bhakta and Paik Ki

Hong in August 200¢€

10.15(3)#Form of Amendment to Performance Incentive Agredreatered into by Netlist, Inc. with each of Chojslher Lopes, Jayesh

Bhakta and Paik Ki Hong in September 2C

10.1€(1)#2006 Equity Incentive Plan of Netlist, Ir
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10.1%1) Note Purchase Agreement, dated October 3, 200&ebetNetlist, Inc. and Serim Paper Manufacturing Cual. ("Serim Paper
10.1¢(1) 7.5% Promissory Note, dated October 3, 2005, isbyedetlist, Inc. to Serim Pape

10.1¢1) Note Purchase Agreement, dated February 12, 2@d&ebn Netlist, Inc. and Serim Pag.

10.2((1) 6.5% Promissory Note, dated February 12, 2006etsy Netlist, Inc. to Serim Pap:

10.21(4) Sixth Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSsulirity Agreement, dated as of December 29, 2

10.24(5) Lease (MultiTenant; Net), dated April 2, 2007, by and betweba Trvine Company LLC, a Delaware limited liabilitpmpany, an
Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporatic

10.25(5) Seventh Amendment to Amended and Restated tGrediSecurity Agreement, dated effective as ofdil&@1, 2007, by and among
Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Netlist Teology Texas, L.P., a Texas limited partnershipl, Afells Fargo Bank, Nation
Association

10.246) Eighth Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSaudirity Agreement, dated effective as of June€@0y, by and amor
Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Netlist Teology Texas, L.P., a Texas limited partnershipl, Afells Fargo Bank, Nation
Association

10.25(9) Ninth Amendment to Amended and Restated CreditSeuirity Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2008, byandng Netlist, Inc.,
Delaware corporation, Netlist Technology Texas,.LaPTexas limited partnership, and Wells FargokB&fational Associatior

10.2¢(10) Tenth Amendment to Amended and Restated CrediSaedrity Agreement, dated October 30, 2008, byaanadng Netlist, Inc., a
Delaware corporation, Netlist Technology Texas,.LaPTexas limited partnership, and Wells FargokB&fational Associatior

14.1(1) Code of Business Conduct and Eth
21.1(11) Subsidiaries of Netlist, Int
23(11) Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LLI
24.1 Power of Attorney (included on the signature pagthis Part IV of this report
31.1(11) Certification of Chief Executive Officer of PerimdReport Pursuant to Rule -15(e) or Rule 15-15(e).
31.2(11) Certification of Chief Financial Officer of PeriadReport Pursuant to Rule -15(e) or Rule 15-15(e).

32(11) Certification by Chief Executive Officer and Chieihancial Officer of Periodic Report Pursuant toll%.C. Section 135(

(1) Incorporated by reference to the correspondingleixhumber of the registration statement on Fo-1 of the registrar
(No. 333-136735) filed with the Securities and Eaope Commission on October 23, 2006.

2) Incorporated by reference to the correspondingbdixhumber of the registration statement on Fo-1 of the registrar
(No. 333-136735) filed with the Securities and Eaope Commission on August 18, 2006.
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(b)

3) Incorporated by reference to the correspondingletxhumber of the registration statement on Forth@&-the registrant
(No. 333-136735) filed with the Securities and Eaoje Commission on September 27, 2006.

4) Incorporated by reference to the correspondingbéixhumber of the annual report on Form 10-K of ithgistrant filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Februar Q7.

(5) Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 16d ¥0.2 of the current report on For-K of the registrant filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 6, 2007

(6) Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrfded with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on August 14, 2007.

) Incorporated by reference to the correspondingbétxhumber of the current report on Form 8-K of thgistrant filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Septemb&00g,

(8) Incorporated by reference to exhibit number 4.ghefregistration statement on For-8 of the registrant (No. 3-146192) filec
with the Securities and Exchange Commission onebeiper 20, 2007.

9) Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrfded with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on May 8, 2008.

(10) Incorporated by reference to exhibit numbers 10th@quarterly report on Form -Q of the registrant filed with the Securiti
and Exchange Commission on November 7, 2008.

(11) Filed herewitt

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

Exhibits

See subsection (a)(2) abc
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, ribgistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredalp authorized, in the City of Irvine, State ofli@ania, on this 30" day of March, 2009.

NETLIST, INC.

By: /s/ CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and
Chairman of the Boar

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each person whose signature appears belpstitutes and appoints Chun K. Hong and Gail ljomtly and severally, each in his or her
own capacity, his/her true and lawful attorneydsot, with full power of substitution, for him/hand his/her name, place and stead, in any anc
all capacities, to sign any and all amendmentdu@iog post-effective amendments) to this repart] ® file the same, with all exhibits thereto
and other documents in connection therewith, with$ecurities and Exchange Commission, granting sunth said attorneys-in-fact and
agents with full power and authority to do so aedigrm each and every act and thing requisite amgssary to be done in and about the
premises, as fully to all intents and purposeseasight or could do in person, hereby ratifying aodfirming all that said attorneys-in-fact, or
their substitute or substitutes, may lawfully dacause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of SectionrlB5(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 thport has been signed below by the
following persons in the capacities and on the slatdicated:

Signature Title Date

/s/ CHUN K. HONG President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmaithef Board (Principal Executi

March 30, 200

Chun K. Hong Officer)
s/ GAIL ITOW Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (Priradifinancial Officer and Principal
! , March 30, 200
Gail Itow Accounting Officer)

/s/ NAM KI HONG

Director March 30, 200
Nam Ki Hong
/sl THOMAS F. LAGATTA
Director March 30, 200
Thomas F. Lagatt

/s/ ALAN H. PORTNOY

Director March 30, 200
Alan H. Portnoy

/sf PRESTON ROMM

Director March 30, 200

Preston Romn
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Netlist, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conse@ibatlance sheets of Netlist, Inc. and subsididties"Company") as of January 3, 2009 and
December 29, 2007, and the related consolidatéehséats of operations, stockholders' equity andpeetrensive loss and cash flows for the
years then ended. These consolidated financia@mtaits are the responsibility of the Company's igamant. Our responsibility is to expre
an opinion on these consolidated financial statésleased on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting €igat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thetsitmobtain reasonable assurance about whetheptisolidated financial statements are free
of material misstatement. The Company is not reglio have, nor were we engaged to perform, art andis internal control over financial
reporting. Our audits included consideration oéintl control over financial reporting as a basisdesigning audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for thigpse of expressing an opinion on the effectiveinéshe Company's internal control over
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express notsopinion. An audit includes examining, on a tesib, evidence supporting the amounts
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesiefah audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the lbeeresolidated financial statement presentatioe. Welieve that our audits provide for a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated finanatdtements referred to above present fairly, imallerial respects, the consolidated financial
position of Netlist, Inc. and subsidiaries as afulry 3, 2009 and December 29, 2007, and the ddasedi results of their operations and their
cash flows for the years then ended in conformity \@ccounting principles generally accepted inlttmited States of America.

As described in Note 2 to the consoliddieancial statements, on December 31, 2006, thepg@aom changed its method of accounting for
income tax uncertainties in accordance with guidgmrovided in FASB Interpretation No. 48¢counting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—an
Interpretation of FASB Statement 1!

/sl KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 30, 2009
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except par value)

January 3, December 2¢€

2009 2007
ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $1521¢ $ 7,18-
Investments in marketable securit 5,19¢ 15,57
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubdittounts of $88 (2008) and $89 (20 1,91 12,03¢
Inventories 1,82¢ 3,33:
Income taxes receivab 1,88( 70¢
Deferred taxe — 3,46¢
Prepaid expenses and other current a 761 392
Total current asse 26,80( 42,68¢
Property and equipment, r 6,93¢ 8,191
Deferred taxe — 1,06t
Long-term investments in marketable securi 96C 7,814
Other asset 234 60C
Total asset $34,93: $ 60,35¢
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 1,78¢ $ 6,69
Revolving line of credi — 4,87
Current portion of lon-term deb! 474 74C
Current portion of deferred gain on sale and leasleransactiol 11¢ 11¢
Accrued expenses and other current liabili 2,08: 2,87z
Total current liabilities 4,461 15,29¢
Long-term debt, net of current portic 13C 63€
Deferred gain on sale and leaseback transactioof meirrent portior 10¢€ 22¢
Total liabilities 4,69¢ 16,16:
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Preferred stock, $0.001 par ve—10,000 shares authorized; no sh
issued and outstandi — —
Common stock, $0.001 par va—90,000 shares authorized; 19,855 (2008) and 192@87) shares issued a
outstanding 20 20
Additional paic-in capital 69,38 68,10¢
Accumulated defici (39,119 (23,899
Accumulated other comprehensive i (56) 37
Total stockholders' equit 30,23¢ 44,19:
Total liabilities and stockholders' equ $3493: $ 60,35¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financisents.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net sales
Cost of sales(1

Gross profil

Operating expense
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative

Total operating expens:
Operating los!

Other income (expense
Interest income, ne
Other income (expense), r

Total other income, ne

Loss before provision (benefit) for income ta

Provision (benefit) for income tax
Net loss

Net loss per common sha
Basic
Diluted
Weighte-average common shares outstand
Basic
Diluted

(1)  Amounts include stoc-based compensation expense as follc

Cost of sale:
Research and developmt
Selling, general and administrati

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
$67,017 $ 100,06(
59,46( 91,26

7,551 8,79¢
6,871 4,74¢
12,92¢ 15,90(

19,80( 20,64¢
(12,249 ~ (11,849

472 39t
(137) 16
33¢ 411

(11,919 ~ (11,439

3,301 (4,025)

$(15,219 $ (7,419

$ (077 $ (0.39
$ (077 $ (0.39)

19,847 19,67«
19,84 19,67+

$ 144 $ 171
17¢ 14¢
954 861

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity an@omprehensive Loss

Balance, December 31, 20

Cumulative effect to prior ye:
accumulated deficit related to the
adoption of FIN 4¢

Stoclk-based compensatic

Payment on stockholder notes
receivable

Exercise of stock optior

Exercise of warrant

Tax benefit from stock option exercis

Components of comprehensive la
Change in net unrealized loss on

investment:

Net loss

Comprehensive los

Balance, December 29, 20
Stoclk-based compensatic
Exercise of warrant
Tax effect from warrant exercis
Components of comprehensive lo

Change in net unrealized loss
investment:
Net loss

Comprehensive los
Balance, January 3, 20!

(in thousands)

Series A

Preferred Stock Notes

Common Stock Additional

Accumulated

Total

Receivable Deferred  Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders
Paid-in From Stock-Based
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Stockholders Compensatior Deficit Equity

— $ — 1954 $ 20$66,55" $ 1'$ — $ (16,33) $ — $ 50,24«
- — - — — — — (154) — (154)
— — — — 1,181 — — — — 1,181
- — - — — 1 — — — 1
— — 191 — 31C — — — — 31C
— — 23 — — — — — — —
- = - = 61 — — — — 61
- - = = — — — — (37) (37)
- - - = — — — (741) — (7,419
— — — — — — — — — (7,450
— —1975¢ 20 68,10¢ $ — $ — (23,899 (37)  44,19:
— — — — 1,273 — — — — 1,271
— — 97 — — — — — — —
e T — — — ©
- - = = — — — — 19 19
- - - = — — — (15,219 — (15,219
— — — — — — — — —  (15,23)
— $ — 1985t $ 20%$69,38: $ — $ — $ (39,119 $ (56)$ 30,23¢

See accompanying notes to consolidated financ#stents

F-5




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash plexviby (used in) operating activiti

Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of deferred gain on sale and leaselbasisactior
Deferred income taxe
Provision for bad debt
Impairment of lon-lived asset:
Loss on disposal of asst
Loss on inventory adjustmer
Facility relocation charg
Stoclk-based compensatic
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Income taxes receivab
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Income taxes payab
Accured expenses and other current liabili
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activi
Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisition of property and equipme
Repayment of note receivable from stockho
Purchase of investments in marketable secu
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investmentsarketable securitie
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi
Cash flows from financing activitie
Borrowings on lines of cred
Payments on lines of cre(
Borrowings from deb
Payments on del
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and was
Excess tax benefit (provision) from exercise otktoption and warran
Net cash used in financing activiti
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of
Cash and cash equivalents at end of -
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the year fc
Interest
Income taxe:

Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing and financing acitivit
Purchase of equipment through capitalized leasgatins

Purchase of equipment not paid for at the endef/dar
Reclassification of other assets to property andpeent
Unrealized losses from investments in marketabtersges

Cumulative effect to prior year accumulated defielated to the adoption of FIN

See accompanying notes to consolidated financigsents.
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Year Ended

January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
$ (15219 $ (7,413)
2,39¢ 1,51C
(11¢) (11¢)
4,52¢ (2,899
25¢ 51
212 50z
8C 68
— 5,32¢
— 134
1,27 1,181
9,85¢ 11,61¢
1,504 10,81:
(1,179 (70¢)
(369) 59¢
85 (274)
(4,91) (5,089)
— (70€)
(789) (517)
(2,370 14,07¢
(1,15¢) (6,26¢)
— 1
(6,409) (63,257)
23,61: 46,59¢
16,05: (22,92)
91,30¢ 114,19
(96,177) (128,56)
— 29C
(774) (1,247)
— 31C
©)] 61
(5,649 (14,94°)
8,03 (23,799
7,18: 30,97t
$ 1521 $ 7,18:
$ 361 $ 1,35¢
$ — & 221
$ —  $ 67
$ —  $ 12¢
$ 281 $ —
$ 1 3 37
$ — 0 154
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

January 3, 2009
Note 1—Description of Business

Netlist, Inc. (the "Company" or "Netlistlesigns and manufactures high performance memdsystems for the server, high performa
computing and communications markets. The Compangfaory subsystems consist of dynamic random acoessory integrated circuits,
NAND and other components assembled on a printeditboard. Headquartered in Irvine, Californigthét's solutions are targeted
applications where memory plays a key role in nmgesiystem performance requirements. In 2007, thepaay established a manufacturing
facility in the People's Republic of China, or PRich became operational in July 2007 upon theessful qualification of certain key
customers.

In December 2006, the Company sold 6,250diGts common shares in its initial public offegi or IPO, at an offering price of $7.00 per
share, resulting in proceeds of $39.5 million, efainderwriters' discounts and offering expensespproximately $4.2 million.

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financiaiestents have been prepared in accordance with atiegprinciples generally accepted in
United States of America, or the U.S.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements idelthe accounts of Netlist, Inc. and its wholly edrsubsidiaries. All intercompany balances
and transactions have been eliminated in consaitat

Fiscal Year

The Company operates undéf bs3-week fiscal year ending on the Saturday closeBetoember 31. The 2008 and 2007 fiscal years
ended on January 3, 2009 and December 29, resplgctiiscal year 2008 consisted of 53 weeks ardlfigear 2007 consisted of 52 weeks.

Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the 2007 consolidatedrfcial statements have been reclassified to confdth the current year presentation.
Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsdnformity with accounting principles generally epted in the U.S. requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of the assets and liabilities andaisce of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements, and the ted@mounts of revenues and expenses during tbetirepperiod. Significant estimates made
by management include, among others, provisionariopllectible receivables and sales returns, wéyrabilities, valuation of inventories,
recoverability of long-lived assets, stock-basedhgensation expense and realization of deferreddagts. The Company bases its estimates
and assumptions on current facts, historical eepeg and various other factors that it believdsetoeasonable under the circumstances, the
results of which form the basis for making judgnsesibout
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 3, 2009
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

the carrying values of assets and liabilities dredaccrual of costs and expenses that are notyegiarent from other sources. The actual
results experienced by the Company may differ nedtgand adversely from its estimates. To the eitbere are material differences between
the estimates and the actual results, future eefibperations will be affected.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues primarily consigirofluct sales of high performance memory subsysteroriginal equipment manufacturers,
or OEMs. Revenues also include sales of excessatiores to distributors and other users of memotggrated circuits, or ICs, totaling
approximately $0.4 million and $1.9 million durittte years ended January 3, 2009 and December @9, @pectively.

The Company recognizes revenues in accoedaith the Securities and Exchange Commissioaf &tcounting Bulletin, or SAB,
No. 104,Revenue RecognitidhSAB No. 104"). Under the provisions of SAB No.4.@he Company recognizes revenues when there is
persuasive evidence of an arrangement, produataigland acceptance have occurred, the salesipfiized or determinable, and collectibil
of the resulting receivable is reasonably assured.

The Company generally uses customer puecbiakers and/or contracts as evidence of an amagge Delivery occurs when goods are
shipped for customers with FOB Shipping Point teemd upon receipt for customers with FOB Destimateyms, at which time title and risk
of loss transfer to the customer. Shipping documarg used to verify delivery and customer accegtafhe Company assesses whether the
sales price is fixed or determinable based on #yenent terms associated with the transaction aretheh the sales price is subject to refund.
Customers are generally allowed limited rightsegtirn for up to 30 days, except for sales of exoegntories, which contain no right-of-
return privileges. Estimated returns are providedat the time of sale based on historical expedger specific identification of an event
necessitating a reserve. The Company offers aatdrmtoduct warranty to its customers and has hergiost-shipment obligations. The
Company assesses collectibility based on the evediiness of the customer as determined by cobditks and evaluations, as well as the
customer's payment history.

A portion of the Company's shipments arelena third-party inventory warehouses, or hubsg, the Company recognizes revenue when
the inventory is pulled from the hub for use ingwotion by the customer. The Company receives tefiam its customers on a daily basis
indicating the inventories pulled from a hub foedsy a customer, and performs a daily reconciliatibinventories shipped to and pulled by
the customer to those inventories reflected orctl®omer's reports to ensure that sales are rexagjini the appropriate periods.

All amounts billed to customers relatediipping and handling are classified as revenubagewll costs incurred by the Company for
shipping and handling are classified as cost @&fssal

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cagdlslaort-term investments with original maturittéghree months or less.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 3, 2009
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Investments in Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its investmentaamketable securities in accordance with StatemeRinancial Accounting Standards
("SFAS") No. 115Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgSiecurities and Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB")
Staff Position SFAS Nos. 115-1 and 124Fhe Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment ksd\pplication to Certain Investment3he
Company determines the appropriate classificatfats anvestments at the time of purchase and feates such designation at each balance
sheet date. The Company's investments in markesablarities have been classified and accountedsfavailable-for-sale based on
management's investment intentions relating toetlsesurities. Available-for-sale securities ar¢éestat market value, and are generally based
on market quotes, to the extent they are availdhieealized gains and losses, net of applicablerdsd taxes, are recorded as a component of
other comprehensive income (loss). Realized gaidd@sses and declines in value judged to be dtizertemporary are determined based on
the specific identification method and are repoitedther income (expense), net in the consolidatatements of operations.

The Company generally invests its excesh aadomestic banissued certificates of deposit which carry fedeegosit insurance, mon
market funds and in highly liquid debt instrumeotd).S. municipalities, corporations and the U.8/&rnment and its agencies. All highly
liquid investments with stated maturities of threenths or less from the date of purchase are @iledsis cash equivalents; all investments
stated maturities of greater than three monthslassified as investments in marketable securities.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Company's financial instruments coristcipally of cash and cash equivalents, investi:ien marketable securities, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expensededmdnstruments. Effective December 30, 2007 Qbmpany adopted SFAS No. 154ir
Value Measuremen{8SFAS 157"), which defines fair value, establisaesamework for measuring fair value in accordawite accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S. and edpaaquired disclosures about fair value measuresmBnrsuant to SFAS 157, other than for
certain investments in auction rate securities {¢ete 4), the fair value of the Company's cashejants and investments in marketable
securities is determined based on quoted pricastine markets for identical assets, or Level lutepThe Company believes that the carrying
values of all other financial instruments approxienieir current fair values due to their naturd sespective durations.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company evaluates the collectibilityaotounts receivable based on a combination ofifacin cases where the Company is awa
circumstances that may impair a specific custonadility to meet its financial obligations subsenu the original sale, the Company will
record an allowance against amounts due, and theeelice the net recognized receivable to the atrtberCompany reasonably believes will
be collected. For all other customers, the Compangrds allowances for doubtful accounts basedapiiynon the length of time the
receivables are past due, the current businessoanvent and its historical experience.
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 3, 2009
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially ®dbjthe Company to significant concentrations eflitrrisk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents, investments in marketable securitied,accounts receivable.

The Company invests primarily in money neafkinds and high quality commercial paper andradledt instruments. Cash equivalents
maintained with high quality institutions, the comsftion and maturities of which are regularly mon#d by management. Investments in
marketable securities are generally in high-creddlity debt instruments with an active resale raaruch investments are made only in
instruments issued or enhanced by higiality institutions. The U.S. Treasury throughemporary Guarantee Program of Money Market fi
has guaranteed money market investments on haofdSeptember 19, 2008. These funds are guarartieaagh April 30, 2009. The Compa
had $7.4 million of U.S Treasury guaranteed monayket funds at January 3, 2009. The Company hamoatred any credit risk losses
related to these investments.

The Company's trade accounts receivablerarerily derived from sales to OEMs in the congsuhdustry. The Company performs
credit evaluations of its customers' financial dtod and limit the amount of credit extended whigemed necessary, but generally require no
collateral. The Company believes that the conctatraf credit risk in its trade receivables is moated by its credit evaluation process,
relatively short collection terms and the high lesfecredit worthiness of its customers. Reservesnaaintained for potential credit losses, and
such losses historically have not been signifieenat have been within management's expectations.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of @ystet realizable value. Cost is determined oav@rage cost basis which approximates actual
cost on a first-in, first-out basis and includes raaterials, labor and manufacturing overhead.ashebalance sheet date, the Company
evaluates its ending inventories for excess quastiind obsolescence. Among other factors, the @oynponsiders historical demand and
forecasted demand in relation to the inventory amdhy competitiveness of product offerings, markeiditions and product life cycles when
determining obsolescence and net realizable v&wiisions are made to reduce excess or obsoleetiories to their estimated net realizable
values. Once established, write-downs are considezemanent adjustments to the cost basis of tbesexor obsolete inventories.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded atarubtdepreciated on a straight-line basis over gstimated useful lives, which generally range
from three to seven years. Leasehold improvemeatsegorded at cost and amortized on a straightHasis over the shorter of their estimated
useful lives or the remaining lease term.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates long-lived assets &wedl used by the Company for impairment on at Easnnual basis or whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that their nek value
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NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 3, 2009
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

may not be recoverable. When such factors androgtances exist, the Company compares the projecigidcounted future cash flows
associated with the related asset or group of asset their estimated useful lives against thespective carrying amount. Impairment, if any,
is based on the excess of the carrying amounttbediair value, based on market value when ava|adyl discounted expected cash flows, of
those assets and is recorded in the period in vithieldetermination is made. Other than those nsatiiscussed in Note 3, the Company's
management believes there is no further impairroeling-lived assets as of January 3, 2009. Thanebe no assurance, however, that market
conditions will not change or demand for the Conysmproducts will continue, which could result irtdre impairment of long-lived assets.

Warranties

The Company offers warranties generallygiag from one to three years to its customers,rdthen on sales of excess inventory,
depending on the product and negotiated termsmwhpase agreements. Such warranties require the &ugyrip repair or replace defective
product returned to the Company during such wayrpatiod at no cost to the customer. The Compaogrds an estimate for warranty-related
costs at the time of sale based on its historicdlestimated product return rates and expectedr @paeplacement costs (see Note 3). Such
costs have historically been consistent betweeiogeand in-line with management's expectations.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity issuance®h-employees in accordance with Emerging Is$ask Force ("EITF") Issue No. 96-18,
Accounting for Equity Instruments that are Issug@®ther Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjiime with Selling, Goods and Servic.
All transactions in which goods or services aredhesideration received for the issuance of eqogiruments are accounted for based on the
fair value of the consideration received or the ¥ailue of the equity instrument issued, whichagenore reliably measurable. The
measurement date used to determine the fair vélthe@quity instrument issued is the earlier @f date on which the third-party performance
is complete or the date on which it is probable geaformance will occur.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(Bhare-Based PaymefiSFAS 123R"), employee and director stock-basedpansation expense
recognized during the period is based on the vafllee portion of stock-based payment awards thattimately expected to vest during the
period. Stock-based compensation expense recoginizhd accompanying consolidated statements afatipas includes (i) compensation
expense for stock-based payment awards grantedtpribut not yet vested as of December 31, 208&dban the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the pro forma prowmsiof SFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensafii8FAS 123") and
(ii) compensation expense for the stock-based paymeards granted subsequent to December 31, 28iton the grant date fair value
estimated in accordance with the provisions of SE&SR. Given that stock-based compensation expeesgnized in the consolidated
statements of operations is based on awards uétlpnexpected to vest, it has been reduced for estidforfeitures. SFAS 123R requires
forfeitures to be estimated at the time of gramt Bvised, if necessary, in subsequent periodstife forfeitures differ from those estimates.
The estimated average forfeiture
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 3, 2009

Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

rates used by the Company are based on histoodeltiire experience and estimated future forfegur

The fair value of common stock option aveat@ employees and directors is calculated usiadthck-Scholes option pricing model. The
Black-Scholes model requires subjective assumptiegarding future stock price volatility and expttime to exercise, along with
assumptions about the riflee interest rate and expected dividends, whitdcathe estimated fair values of these awards.eXpected term «
options granted is derived from historical dateearployee exercises and pesisting employment termination behavior. The expaeblatility
is based on the historical volatilities of the coomstock of comparable publicly traded companiestan the Company's belief that it
currently has limited historical data regarding todatility of its stock price on which to base @amingful estimate of expected volatility. The
risk-free rate selected to value any particulangigbased on the U.S. Treasury rate that correfpto the expected term of the grant effective
as of the date of the grant. The expected dividesdamption is based on the Company's history gpeceéation of dividend payouts. These
factors could change in the future, affecting teeedmination of stock-based compensation expeniétire periods.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes @o@ance with SFAS No. 108ccounting for Income Tax€sSFAS 109"). Under SFAS 10
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogniaedflect the estimated future tax effects, calted at currently effective tax rates, of future
deductible or taxable amounts attributable to evémdat have been recognized on a cumulative hagieiconsolidated financial statements. A
valuation allowance related to a deferred tax dasseicorded when it is more likely than not thaine portion of the deferred tax asset will not
be realized.

The Company adopted FASB Interpretation 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes—An Ipitetation of FASB Statement
No. 109("FIN 48") on December 31, 2006, the first daytsffiscal 2007. FIN 48 seeks to reduce the diveisipractice associated with cert
aspects of measurement and recognition in accaufgmncome taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a recognitimashold and measurement requirer
for the financial statement recognition of a tasifion that has been taken or is expected to bentak a tax return and also provides guidance
on de-recognition, classification, interest andgiées, accounting in interim periods, disclosuned transition. Under FIN 48 the Company
may only recognize or continue to recognize taxtjprs that meet a "more likely than not" threshold

Research and Development Expenses
Research and development expendituresxaensed in the period incurred.
Advertising Expenses
Advertising costs are expensed in the pdriourred. Advertising expenses for fiscal yedd8&and 2007 were not significant.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 3, 2009
Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)
Comprehensive Income (Loss)

SFAS No. 13Reporting Comprehensive Incomestablishes standards for reporting and dispipgomprehensive income and its
components in the consolidated financial statemeémsumulated other comprehensive income (losshdes unrealized gains or losses on
investments.

Risks and Uncertainties

The Company's operations in the PRC argesutn various political, geographical and econonisks and uncertainties inherent to
conducting business in China. These include, rihat limited to, (i) potential changes in econoroaditions in the region, (ii) managing a
local workforce that may subject us to uncertamtie certain regulatory policies and (iii) changesther policies of the Chinese governmental
and regulatory agencies. Additionally, the Chinggeernment controls the procedures by which itallcarrency, the Chinese Renminbi
("RMB"), is converted into other currencies. If dggs or restrictions in the conversion of RMB ardtituted, the Company's operations and
operating results may be negatively impacted.

Foreign Currency Remeasurement

The functional currency of the Companyi®ign subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Local cuesefinancial statements are remeasured into
U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect ab@bialance sheet date for monetary assets anlitigsband the historical exchange rate for
nonmonetary assets and liabilities. Expenses aneasured using the average exchange rate for thoglpexcept items related to nonmonetary
assets and liabilities, which are remeasured usistgrical exchange rates. All remeasurement gaiaslosses are included in determining net
income (loss).

Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per share is catedl by dividing net income (loss) by the weightegrage common shares outstanding during
the year. Diluted net income (loss) per share lisutated by dividing the net income (loss) by theightedaverage shares and dilutive poter
common shares outstanding during the year. Dilygivential shares consist of dilutive shares iskuapon the exercise of outstanding stock
options and warrants computed using the treasogkshethod.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No.IR#& Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Biptes("SFAS 162"). SFAS 162 is
intended to improve financial reporting by idenitify a consistent framework, or hierarchy, for sefecaccounting principles to be used in
preparing financial statements that are presemtednformity with GAAP for nongovernmental entiti€&FAS 162 is effective 60 days
following the SEC's approval of the Public Compa&wgounting Oversight Board's amendments to AU 8ectil1l,The Meaning of Present
Fairly in Conformity with Generally Accepted Accting Principles.The Company does not expect the adoption of tatestent to have a
material impact on its consolidated results of afiens, financial position or cash flows.

In February 2008, the FASB issued StaffitRos157-2 ("FSP 157-2"). FSP 157-2 permits dethgdoption of SFAS 157 for certain non-
financial assets and liabilities, which are nobigruized at fair
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Note 2—Summary of Significant Accounting PoliciesGontinued)

value on a recurring basis, until fiscal years swterim periods beginning after November 15, 2088 permitted by FSP 157-2, the Company
has elected to delay the adoption of SFAS 157 diatifying non-financial assets and liabilities. TBempany does not believe the adoption of
SFAS 157 for its non-financial assets and lialgifitithat are not recognized at fair value on arregubasis, will have a material impact on the
Company's consolidated results of operations @nfiial position.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFASIMA(R),Business CombinatiorfsSFAS 141(R)"), which replaces SFAS 141. The
provisions of SFAS 141(R) are similar to those BAS 141; however, SFAS 141(R) requires companiesdord most identifiable assets,
liabilities, noncontrolling interests, and goodvéliquired in a business combination at "full fafue." SFAS 141(R) also requires companie
record fair value estimates of contingent consitienaand certain other potential liabilities durithge original purchase price allocation and to
expense acquisition costs as incurred. This stateapplies to all business combinations, includingbinations by contract alone. Further,
under SFAS 141(R), all business combinations velblocounted for by applying the acquisition mett®fAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal
years beginning on or after December 15, 2008.dd¢mpany expects SFAS 141(R) will have an impadtooonsolidated financial stateme
when effective, but the nature and magnitude okpiexific effects will depend upon the nature, ®end size of the acquisitions that the
Company consummates after the effective date.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financg&thtement§'SFAS 160"), which
will require noncontrolling interests (previoushferred to as minority interests) to be treated agsparate component of equity, not as a
liability or other item outside of permanent equithis Statement applies to the accounting for patrolling interests and transactions with
non-controlling interest holders in consolidatethficial statements. SFAS 160 will be applied protpely to all noncontrolling interests,
including any that arose before the effective @aimept that comparative period information mustdmast to classify noncontrolling interest
equity, attribute net income and other comprehensigome to noncontrolling interests, and provittendisclosures required by SFAS 160.
SFAS 160 is effective for periods beginning on fteraDecember 15, 2008. The adoption of SFAS 16isexpected to have a material img
on the Company's consolidated financial positiesults of operations or liquidity.

Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information
Inventories

Inventories consist of the following (irotisands):

January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Raw material $ 97€¢ $ 1,87¢
Work in proces: 111 42k
Finished good 742 1,03(

$182¢ $ 3,33
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Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)

During the year ended December 31, 20@7Ctbmpany incurred a loss of approximately $5.3ianildue to slow moving and lower-of-
cost or market value inventory adjustments, whicim¢luded as a component of cost of sales, imtitempanying consolidated statement of
operations.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the foihg (dollars in thousands):

Estimated January 3, December 2¢

Useful

Lives 2009 2007
Machinery and equipme 3-7yrs $ 7,097 $ 8,05t
Leasehold improvemen * 1,79¢ 1,48¢
Furniture and fixture 5yrs. 457 457
Computer equipment and softwe 3-7yrs 2,61¢ 2,27¢
Assets held for sal 101 —
12,06¢ 12,27:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortiz (5,129 (4,087)
$ 6,93 $ 8,191

* Estimated useful life is generally 7 years, orrtimaining lease term, whichever is shorter.

Included in property and equipment are tasseder capital leases with a cost of approxirga#8l9 million and $1.9 million and
accumulated amortization of approximately $0.7iorilland $1.2 million at January 3, 2009 and Decear2Be2007, respectively.

During fiscal 2006, the Company acquiredaie laser soldering equipment (the "Equipmentiinarily intended for use in connection
with a new product technology to be developed foustomer. During fiscal 2007, management deterdnihat certain alternative equipment
and related design processes were a more appepadatplement to the development of this technoldgya result, the Company determined
the extent to which it expected to utilize the Fopeént in the future had decreased from its origistimates, and thus the Company concluded
that the carrying value of the Equipment was ngérmrecoverable and was therefore impaired. Managedetermined that, due primarily to
the highly customized nature of the Equipment litedihood of alternative uses or disposal throagbale were significantly remote. As a
result, in accordance with SFAS No. 14€counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lonigdd Assetsthe Company recorded a charge of
approximately $0.3 million to write-off the carrgvalue of the Equipment. This charge is included aomponent of research and
development expenses in the accompanying consetfidahtement of operations for the year ended Deee®9, 2007.

Additionally, during the fourth quarter 2007, the Company recorded a charge of approxign&teR million to write-down the carrying
value of certain other long-lived assets for whtoh carrying value was determined to be impairdnds Tharge is included as a component of
selling, general and
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Note 3—Supplemental Financial Information (Continuel)

administrative expenses in the accompanying cafesteld statement of operations for the year endegmbker 29, 2007.

During the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008e tCompany began moving certain operations to R@.RAs a result, management determined
that certain excess equipment was no longer nesadecided to hold the assets for sale. The carmalue of this excess equipment was
reduced to its fair value less costs to sell andsified as assets held for sale at January 3, Z2B@Company determined the current fair value
of the excess equipment primarily using marketgwifor comparable equipment. Based on its analy@sCompany recorded a charge of
$0.1 million to reduce the assets held for salbiéir estimated fair value and included such chargelling, general and administrative
expenses for the year ended January 3, 2009.

Warranty Liability
The following table summarizes the activitjated to the warranty liability (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Beginning balanc $ 3B 3 29¢
Charged to costs and expen 113 25€
Usage (189 (201)
Ending balanc $ 277 % 35z

The warranty liability is included as a quonent of accrued expenses and other currentitiabiln the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets. Prior to fiscal 2007, activityteglado warranty costs was insignificant.

Facility Relocation Costs

As a result of the relocation the Compadgmestic headquarters and manufacturing facilityng) the third quarter of 2007, the Comp
vacated its previous manufacturing facility. Then@any is currently obligated under a noncancellaplerating lease of this facility through
November 2010. In accordance with SFAS No. Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disgddictivities,the Company recorded a
net charge and related liability of approximatelyd$,000 in fiscal 2007, which approximated theneated fair value of the net remaining lease
payments.

In January 2008, the Company entered intagrteement to sublease this facility to anotheairté During the fourth quarter of 2008, as a
result of certain adjustments and revised assumptielated to the sublease agreement with the tethenCompany recorded an additional
charge of approximately $34,000.

The charges discussed above are includadcamponent of selling, general and administragixgenses in the respective accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The relatbility is included as a component of accruedenges and other current liabilities in the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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The following table summarizes the activtyd liability balance related to the facility reégion costs recorded for the periods indicate
thousands):

Liability balance, December 30, 20 $ —
Charged to costs and expen 134
Net payment: (32)
Liability balance, December 29, 20 10z
Charged to costs and expen 34
Net payment: (57)
Liability balance, January 3, 20! $ 80

Comprehensive Loss

The components of comprehensive loss, fetxes, consist of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007

Net loss $(15,214) $ (7,419
Other comprehensive los

Change in net unrealized loss on investm (6) (37)

Reclassification adjustment for net realized gaiiuded in net lo¢ (13 —

Total comprehensive lo: $(15,239) $ (7,450

Accumulated other comprehensive loss redtbon the consolidated balance sheets at Janpaf09 and December 29, 2007 represents
accumulated net unrealized losses on investmem&iketable securities.
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Computation of Net Loss Per Share

The following table sets forth the compigtatof basic and diluted net loss per share, inolyithe reconciliation of the numerator and
denominator used in the calculation of basic ahdetl net loss per share (in thousands, excephzee data):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007
Basic and diluted net loss per share
Numerator: Net los $(15,219) $ (7,419
Denominator: Weighte-average common shares outstanding, | 19,84 19,674
Basic net loss per sha $ (0.7 $ (0.39

All potentially dilutive common share eqgalgnts of approximately 0.9 million and 1.5 millishares, have been excluded from the diluted
net loss per share calculations for the years eddedary 3, 2009 and December 29, 2007, respagctaetheir effect would be anditutive for
the years then ended. These common share equivalemsist of shares issuable upon the exercisatsfamding stock options and warrants
computed using the treasury stock method, and waNg been included in the calculation of dilutachéngs per share had the Company
reported net income for these years.

Note 4—Fair Value Measurements

On December 30, 2007, the first day ofiisal year 2008, the Company partially adopted SAA7 which establishes a framework for
measuring fair value and expands disclosures daoutalue measurements. SFAS 157 defines fairevakithe exchange price that would be
received for an asset or paid to transfer a lighfin exit price) in the principal or most advaggaus market for the asset or liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantthermeasurement date. SFAS 157 also establistads\afue hierarchy that requires an er
to maximize the use of observable inputs and mirgntihe use of unobservable inputs when measuringdtue. The standard describes three
levels of inputs that may be used to measure &dire:

Level — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assetiabilities.

Level 2— Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, ssdofpuated prices for similar assets or liabilitiggpted prices in markets that are
not active; or other inputs that are observableaorbe corroborated by observable market datautmstantially the full term of the
assets or liabilities

Level 3— Unobservable inputs that are supported by littlammarket activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or
liabilities.

The fair value of the Company's cash edeiua is determined based on quoted prices inaatiarkets for identical assets, or Level 1
inputs.
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The fair value of the Company's investmémtsarketable securities which are categorizeldea®! 1 consist of commercial paper and
corporate notes and bonds, both of which are valgétwy quoted market prices.

In accordance with SFAS 157, the followtable details the fair value measurements withinfétir value hierarchy of the Company's
investments in marketable securities (in thousands)

Fair Value Measurements at January 3, 2009 Using
Quoted Prices in Significant Other Significant

Fair Value at  Active Markets for Unobservable
Observable
January 3, Identical Assets Inputs Inputs
2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Investments in marketable securi $ 6,15¢ $ 519¢ $ — % 96C

Fair value measurements using Level 3 puthe table above relate to the Company's invests in auction rate securities. Level 3
inputs are unobservable inputs used to estimattathealue of assets or liabilities and are uéitizo the extent that observable inputs are not
available. The disruptions in the credit markettoure to adversely affect the liquidity and overatirket for auction rate securities. The
Company has estimated the fair value of these ima#ts using a discounted cash flow model whichuigted assumptions about the credit
quality and expected duration of the investmerts)gawith discount rates affected for the geneaeklof liquidity. These assumptions reflect
the Company's estimates about the reasonable assommarket participants would likely use in valgithe investments, including
assumptions about risk, developed based on thédrifeshation available in the circumstances.

The following table provides a reconciliatiof the beginning and ending balances for the i2om's assets measured at fair value using
Level 3 inputs (in thousands):

Year Endec

January 3,

2009
Beginning balanc $ —
Transfers into Level 6,16:
Unrealized loss included in accumulated other caimgnsive los (42
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlemen (5,167
Ending balanc $ 96C
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Investments in marketable securities comdithe following at January 3, 2009 and Decen#®r2007 (in thousands):

January 3, 2009
Net
Amortized  Unrealized

Fair

Cost Loss Value
Certificates of Depos $ 751 $ (1) $ 75C
Corporate notes and bon 4,462 (13) 4,44¢
Auction and variable floating rate not 1,00z (42 96(

$ 6215 $ (56) $6,15¢

December 29, 2007

Amortized Net
Unrealized Fair
Cost Gain (Loss' Value
Commercial pape $ 987 $ — $ 987
Corporate notes and bon 11,89: (9) 11,88:
Federal agency notes and bo 4,38 13 4,39¢
Auction and variable floating rate not 6,16: (42) 6,122

$2342 $ (37) $23,38.

Realized gains and losses on the saleveSiments in marketable securities are determisgdyuhe specific identification method. Net
realized gains recorded during the years endedada) 2009 and December 29, 2007 were not sigmific
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The following table provides the breakdoefrinvestments in marketable securities with urizeal losses at January 3, 2009 and
December 29, 2007 (in thousands):

January 3, 2009
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 month: 12 months or greater
Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair
Value Loss Value Loss
Commercial pape $ 25C $ (@) — —
Corporate notes and bon 4,44¢ (13 — —
Auction and variable floating rate not — — 1,00z (42

$469¢ $ (14 $100: $ (42

December 29, 2007
Continuous Unrealized Loss

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater
Unrealized Unrealized
Fair Fair
Value Loss Value Loss
Corporate notes and bon $6,83C ¢ (19 $— $ —
Federal agency notes and bo 99¢ B — —
Auction and variable floating rate nof 1,96¢ 41y — —

$9,79: ¢ (56 $— $ —

As of January 3, 2009 and December 29, 20@/Company held 6 and 11 investments, respégtitret were in an unrealized loss
position.

Auction Rate Securities

As of December 29, 2007, two of the ComfmMAA rated auction rate securities with a totatghased cost of approximately
$2.0 million experienced failed auctions during therth quarter of 2007. Due to the failed auctighe Company was unable to sell the
securities at their respective costs, resulting dtecrease in fair value, which has been recorsedceamponent of accumulated other
comprehensive loss in accordance with SFAS No. Th8se investments have been classified as temy-investments in marketable securi
in the Company's consolidated balance sheet agaébber 29, 2007. During the quarter ended Jun2®B, the Company was able to
liquidate at par value these marketable secuiitiesstments with a total purchased cost of $2.Gianil Accordingly, the Company reversed
cumulative unrealized loss on these investmenéppfoximately $0.2 million that was previously reged.

As of January 3, 2009, the Company helditwestments in auction rate securities with alfotechased cost of $1.0 million. These two
investments represent (i) a fully insured debtgdtibn of a municipality and (ii) a AAA rated detdtligation backed by pools of student loans
guaranteed by the U.S. Department of Educatione®ilie insufficient observable market inputs artatee information available, the
Company has classified its investments in auctie securities within Level 3 of the fair valueraiehy (see Note 4).
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The Company does not believe that the atifigquidity of its investments in auction ratecurities will materially impact its ability to
fund its working capital needs, capital expendsuse other business requirements. The Company, \ewemains uncertain as to when
liquidity will return to the auction rate marketghether other secondary markets will become availabwhen the underlying securities may
be called by the issuer. Given these and otherrtaiotes, the Company's investments in auctioa saturities have been classified as long-
term investments in marketable securities in tftmapanying consolidated balance sheet as of JaBu&09. The Company has concluded
that the estimated gross unrealized losses on thesstments, which totaled approximately $42,008aauary 3, 2009, are temporary because
(i) the Company believes that the absence of liguttiat has occurred is due to general market itiomd, (ii) the auction rate securities
continue to be of a high credit quality and inteiegpaid as due and (iii) the Company has thenira@d ability to hold these investments until a
recovery in the market occurs.

Other Investments in Marketable Securities

Excluding its auction rate securities, giness unrealized losses on the Company's othestimemts in marketable securities totaled
approximately $14,000 as of January 3, 2009, agénerally due to the ongoing uncertainties indteglit and financial markets, as well as
changes in interest rates. The fair value of ti@sestments was determined based on Level 1 inpatsisting of quoted prices from actual
market transactions for identical investments. Toepany has determined that the unrealized logs#sese investments as of January 3, !
are temporary in nature. Factors considered inraééng whether impairments are other than tempoiraziude (i) the length of time and
extent to which fair value has been less than thertized cost basis, (ii) the financial conditiamdanear-term prospects of the investee and
(i) the Company's intent and ability to hold avéstment for a period of time sufficient to allfav any anticipated recovery in market value.

The Company maintains an investment paatfol various holdings, types and maturities. TheemPany invests in instruments that meet
high quality credit standards, as specified inrit@stment policy guidelines. These guidelines galhelimit the amount of credit exposure to
any one issue, issuer or type of instrument. Thresédue of the Company's investments in marketablaurities could change significantly in
the future and the Company may be required to teatirer-than-temporary impairment charges or aatttiti unrealized losses in future
periods.

The following table presents the amortizedt and fair value of the Company's investmentaanketable securities classified as available-
for-sale at January 3, 2009 and December 29, 29@btitractual maturity (in thousands):

January 3, 2009

Amortized
Fair
Cost Value
Maturity
Less than one yei $ 5,21 $5,19¢
One to two year — —
Greater than two year: 1,00z 96(

$ 6,21f $6,15¢
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December 29, 200

Amortized
Fair
Cost Value

Maturity
Less than one ye: $15,57: $15,57:
One to two year 1,687 1,692
Greater than two year: 6,16: 6,122

$23,42: $23,38

* Comprised of auction rate securities which gengtaive reset dates of 90 days or less but finaractual maturity datt

in excess of 15 years.
Note 6—Credit Agreement

Under the Company's revolving line of ctedih its bank, the Company may borrow up to theater of 85% of eligible accounts
receivable plus the least of (i) a percentageigftéé inventory determined from time to time by Bank, (ii) 80% of the orderly liquidation
value, as defined, of eligible inventories, ang @iL million.

In connection with its credit agreemeng @ompany also has been provided an equipmentfioeedit allowing it to borrow up to
$3 million. Interest on the equipment advancesigple monthly, at the Company's option, at thatgreof (i) prime rate plus 3% (ii) LIBOR
plus 6% or (iii) 8%. Interest only payments werguieed on the equipment advances through Januar3087. Commencing February 1, 2007,
the Company is required to repay the equipmentrazb&in 42 equal monthly installments. The outstapbalance on this loan was
approximately $0.5 and $0.9 million at January@2and December 29, 2007, respectively (see Note 8

In May 2008, the Company executed a nintleredment to its credit agreement, which was effeats of the beginning of its second fis
guarter of 2008. Among other things, the amendmerised certain financial and other covenants witich the Company was required to
comply. The amendment required the Company tanfi} tapital expenditures under a defined annup| g achieve certain minimum
monthly profitability thresholds and (iii) maintaenminimum liquidity threshold as of the end of eatonth. Additionally, the amendment
revised the interest rate on the Company's borrgsvim the revolving line of credit to fluctuateweéen the prime rate and prime plus 0.5%
based on the Company's combined monthly accouahbalwith the bank. Furthermore, under the amengrttenCompany's nonrevolving
equipment financing line of credit was revised ltova the Company to borrow up to an additional nmaxm of $0.9 million to finance up to
80% of the cost of equipment purchases througletigeof fiscal 2008. As of January 3, 2009, no aaldit financing was obtained. Principal
on any of these additional borrowings is schedtoelke repaid in 42 equal monthly installments comecirgg January 1, 2009. Interest on the
Company's existing and future equipment line oflitredvances is payable monthly, at the Comparptism, at the greater of (i) prime rate
plus 3% (ii) LIBOR plus 6% or (iii) 8%.

In October 2008, the Company executed g&iT Amendment to its Amended and Restated CradiSzcurity Agreement (the "Tenth
Amendment"). Among other things, this amendment
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Note 6—Credit Agreement (Continued)

further revised the Company's minimum profitabifityancial covenant requirement. The Tenth Amendraéso revised the monthly interest

rate charged on future credit advances under tieeoli credit to the greater of (i) the sum of thieng rate plus 3%, (ii) LIBOR plus 6% or
(iii) 8%.

The following table presents details oEnetst expense related to borrowings on the lireexfit, along with certain other applicable
information (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007
Interest expens $ 207 $ 862

January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Outstanding borrowings on the line of cre $ — $ 4387
Borrowing availability under the line of cret $ 1,701 $ 6,36¢

Any borrowings under the Company's revajvémd equipment lines of credit are collateralizgc general first priority lien against all of
the Company's assets, both tangible and intangible.

As of January 3, 2009, the Company wa®mgiance with its financial covenants.

Note 7—Letter of Credit

In June 2008, the Company entered intogaeeanent with its bank to issue a commercial letteredit ("LC"), up to $2 million to suppc

purchases of inventory from a supplier. As parthe$ agreement, the Company was required to pledgke as collateral for the full amount of
the LC. This agreement was cancelled in Decemb@8.20

Note 8—Long-Term Debt
Long-term debt consists of the following {housands):

January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Obligations under capital leases (see Note $ 14¢ 3 432
Equipment note payable to bank (see Not 45C 872
Note payable to othe 6 74
604 1,37¢
Less current portio (474 (740

$ 13C $ 63¢
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Capital Leases

The Company has purchased manufacturingamgbuter equipment through the use of varioustablgiases. As of January 3, 2009, tr
leases require aggregate monthly payments of appabely $8,000 and mature at various dates thrddgi 2011. The interest rates on these
leases vary between 4.3% and 8.25% (see Note 10).

Note Payable to Others

In January 2003, the Company entered ii$i800,000 loan agreement with a financing compealateralized by assets owned by an
employee related to the majority stockholder. Tiuge bore interest at 14% per annum and maturédrinary 2009. Principal and interest
payments of approximately $6,000 were due and gayabnthly. The balance of this note was approxétye$6,000 and $74,000 at January 3,
2009 and December 29, 2007, respectively.

As of January 3, 2009, maturities of lorgat debt were as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

2009 $474
2010 117
2011 13

$604

Interest expense related to the Compaagig-term debt is presented in the following taimettfjousands):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007
Interest expens $ 98 % 213

Note 9—Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, loss befarovision (benefit) for income taxes includes tbllowing components (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢€
2009 2007
United State: $(10,72) $ (10,81
Foreign (1,189 (622)

$(11,919 § (11,439
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The Company's income tax provision (behefinsists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢€
2009 2007
Current:

Federal $(1,239 $ (1,129
State 11 1
Total curren (1,22 (1,12¢)

Deferred:
Federal (2,802 (2,177
State (552) (728)
Change in valuation allowan 7,88: —
Total deferrec 4,52¢ (2,899
Income tax provision (benefi $ 3,301 $ (4,029

Deferred income taxes reflect the net féects of temporary differences between the cagyimounts of assets and liabilities for finan
reporting purposes and the amounts used for indarme
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purposes. Significant components of the Comparefarted tax assets and liabilities are as follawshousands):

January 3, December 2¢€

2009 2007
Deferred tax asset
Reserves and allowanc $ 2,751 $ 3,38
State taxes, net of federal income tax bel 1 —
Depreciation and amortizatic 137 —
Other accrual 373 347
Compensatory stock options and rig 1,28( 90t
Deferred gair 95 144
Other 62 —
Contribution carryforward 2 2
Tax credit carryforward 632 241
NOL carryforward 2,652 12t
Total deferred tax asse 7,98¢ 5,14¢
Deferred tax liabilities
State taxes, net of federal income tax bel — (422)
Depreciation and amortizatic — (167)
Prepaid expenst¢ (102) (30)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (202) (619)
Subtotal 7,88: 4,52¢
Valuation allowanct (7,887%) —
$ — $ 4,52

A reconciliation of income taxes computsgdaipplying the statutory U.S. income tax rate ® @ompany's loss before income taxes to the
income tax provision (benefit) is as follows:

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
U.S. federal statutory te (39)% (39)%
State taxes, net of federal effi 7 (4
Research and development cre 1 —
Benefit of lower tax rat 1 1
Stocl-based compensatic 1 1
Loss from foreign subsidiat 3 2
Valuation allowanct 50 —
Effective income tax provision (benefit) re 28% (35)%
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The Company generated a federal net operdss ("NOL") of approximately $10.5 million fthe year ended January 3, 2009.
Approximately $4.4 million of the NOLs will be cé&d back to the fiscal year ended December 30, .200€ NOL of approximately
$3.4 million generated for the year ended Decer2BeR007 was carried back to December 30, 2006wlydutilized. The remaining federal
net operating loss carryforwards of $6.1 milliorllwigin to expire in 2029. At January 3, 2009, @@mpany has approximately $6.9 million
of state NOLs which begin to expire in fiscal yead 7. In addition, the Company has federal ane st credit carryforwards of
approximately $0.3 million and $0.3 million, respeely at January 3, 2009. Federal tax credit darwards begin to expire in 2026 and state
tax credits carry forward indefinitely.

In accordance with SFAS No. 109, "Accougtiar Income Taxes," the Company evaluates whetheluation allowance should be
established against its deferred tax assets bast#twea@onsideration of all available evidence usirighore likely than not" standard. In making
such judgments, significant weight is given to evide that can be objectively verified. In the thgechrter of fiscal year 2008, the Company
recorded a charge to income tax expense to edtablialuation allowance against its deferred inctemeassets. The Company's determination
to record a valuation allowance was based on rdustdry of cumulative losses and losses expecieaily future years. In addition, the
Company discontinued recording income tax bengfite consolidated financial statements untisiletermined that it is more likely than not
that the Company will generate sufficient taxableoime to realize its deferred income tax asset®fAdanuary 3, 2009 a valuation allowance
of approximately $7.9 million has been provideddshsen the Company's assessment that it is not liketg than not that sufficient taxable
income will be generated to realize the tax besefitthese temporary differences.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), theedneid tax assets at January 3, 2009 does not melpproximately $3,000 and $14,000 of
excess tax benefits from employee stock optionases that are a component of the federal and s¢dteperating loss carryover, respectively.
The Company's stockholders' equity balance wﬂhbeeased if and when such excess tax benefitslamgately realized.

FIN 48

The Company adopted FIN 48 on DecembeRBQ6, the first day of its fiscal 2007. As a residlthe adoption of FIN 48, the Company
recorded an increase in the net liability for uigrtzed tax positions of approximately $0.2 millierhich was recorded as an adjustment tc
beginning balance of accumulated deficit as of Demer 31, 2006. The following table summarizes tttevity related to the Company's
unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 20 $51¢
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdizax benefit 45

Balance at December 29, 20 56(
Accrual of potential interest related to unrecogdizax benefit 3

Balance at January 3, 20 $562
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Included in the unrecognized tax benefitdamuary 3, 2009 and December 29, 2007 was appabedy $0.6 million, respectively, of tax
positions that, if recognized, would affect the Qamy's annual effective tax rate.

The Company's continuing practice is t@ggize accrued interest and penalties related iecognized tax benefits as a component of tax
expense. This policy did not change as a resuheadoption of FIN 48. The Company had approxilyai$10,000 accrued for interest and
accrued for penalties at January 3, 2009 and $@%66rued for interest and $0 accrued for penadti€@ecember 29, 2007. The Company's
unrecognized tax benefits may change over the Izrtonths as the statute of limitations on cerngian years expire.

The Company files tax returns with fedestdte and foreign jurisdictions. The Company isamger subject to IRS or state examinations
prior to fiscal 2004 although certain carryforwaittributes that were generated prior to fiscal 20@4 still be adjusted by the IRS.

Tax Holidays

In fiscal 2008, the Company began operatimder tax holidays in the PRC, which are effectieen January 2008 through December
2012. Since the Company operated at a loss inRt@ iR 2008, it did not realize any benefit to itmesolidated results of operations in 2008
attributable to the tax holidays.

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases certain of its facii@d equipment under non-cancelable operatingddhat expire at various dates through
October 2012. Rental expense is presented in tlwviog table (in thousands):

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Rental expens $ 1040 $ 952

The Company also has acquired certain egesp through the use of various capital leases.
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In December 2005, the Company sold thedingl containing its manufacturing facility and ttetated land in Irvine, California to an
unrelated third party for gross proceeds of appnately $1.9 million. Concurrent with the sale, ©empany entered into an agreement to |
the property back at an initial monthly rent of D, subject to annual rent increases of 3% thrde@se expiration in November 2010. The
Company accounts for the lease as an operating.leasonnection with the sale, the Company rectegh gain of approximately $0.6 milli
which was deferred and is being amortized into imegatably over the remaining lease term. Durirghed the years ended January 3, 2009
and December 29, 2007, the Company amortized appabdaly $118,000 of the gain which is recorded asdaiction of rent expense in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operationkanuary 2008, the Company entered into an aggeeto sublease this facility to
another tenant as a result of the Company's facéibcation, as discussed further in Note 3. Aasfuary 3, 2009, the Company expects to
receive total future minimum rental income fronsteublease of approximately $0.2 million, the tefrwvhich expires in November 2010.

A summary of future minimum payments undleth capital and operating lease commitments nstibfease as of January 3, 2009 is as
follows (in thousands):

Capital  Operating

Fiscal Year Leases Leases
2009 $ 94 $ 66F
2010 63 674
2011 14 467
2012 — 23
Total minimum lease paymer 171 $ 1,82¢
Less amount representing inter (23

Present value of future minimum lease paymentsede 8 $ 14¢&
Litigation
Federal Securities Class Action

Beginning in May 2007, the Company, cert#iits officers and directors, and the Companydarwriters were named as defendants in
four purported class action shareholder complaints,of which were filed in the U.S. District Coddr the Southern District of New York, a
two of which were filed in the U.S. District Codiar the Central District of California. These purgsa class action lawsuits were filed on
behalf of persons and entities who purchased @raise acquired the Company's common stock pursuaraceable to the Company's
November 30, 2006 Initial Public Offering (the "IPOThe lawsuits were consolidated into a singliéo—Belodoff v. Netlist, Inc., Lead Ca
No. SACV07-677 DOC (MLGx)—which is currently pending in the@ral District of California. Lead Plaintiff filethe Consolidated
Complaint on November 5, 2007. Defendants filedr timotions to dismiss the Consolidated Complaintlanuary 9, 2008. The motions to
dismiss were taken under submission on April 2888nd on May 30, 2008, the Court granted the disfiets' motions. However, plaintiffs
were granted the right to amend their complaintsutzsequently filed their First Amended Consolidai¢ass Action Complaint (the
"Amended Complaint") on July 15,

F-30




Table of Contents

NETLIST, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)
January 3, 2009
Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

2008. Generally, the Amended Complaint allegestti@mReqgistration Statement issued by the Compangrinection with the IPO contained
untrue statements of material fact or omission®aterial fact in violation of Sections 11 and 15Safcurities Act of 1933. The Company file
motion to dismiss the Amended Complaint on Jan@aB009 and an oral argument on the motion to disrisi set for April 6, 2009. The
Company believes that the allegations lack medtiatends to vigorously defend all claims asserttmlvever, at this time, the Company is
unable to form a professional judgment that anworfable outcome is either probable or remote, aigdriot possible to assess whether or not
the outcome of these proceedings will or will navé a material adverse effect on the Company. ifrdavorable outcome should eventually
occur, the Company is not at this time able toneste the amount or range of possible loss.

California Derivative Action

In August 2007, a derivative lawsuit wdsdiin California Superior Court for County of Oggr—Smith v. Hong, Case No. 07CC01359—
against certain of the Company's officers and tmsc This action contains factual allegations Einmio those of the federal class action lawsuit
described above, but the plaintiff in this case alsserts claims for violations of California'sidles trading laws, breaches of fiduciary duty,
abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste pbeate assets, and unjust enrichment. The plase#ks unspecified damages, equitable
and/or injunctive relief and disgorgement of abfits, benefits and other compensation obtainethbydefendants. The defendants in this
action have not responded to the complaint. Putdoamstipulation, the parties agreed to templyratay the action pending the ultimate
decision on the defendants' motions to dismishérféderal securities class action. The partiesadseed that twenty days after the court in the
federal securities class action issues a finahgudis to the motions to dismiss brought in thabacthe parties will meet and confer regarding
the time for defendants to respond to the complaittiis derivative action. The Company believest the allegations lack merit and intends to
vigorously defend all claims asserted. At this tilnewever, the Company is unable to form a profesgijudgment that an unfavorable
outcome is either probable or remote. Moreoveanifinfavorable outcome should eventually occurQbmpany is not at this time able to
estimate the amount or range of possible lossddiitian, the Company received correspondence froamsel for a purported shareholder
requesting that the Company take actions to ingatgiand remedy alleged wrongdoing by unidentifiiecher and current officers and/or
directors based on allegations similar to thosénSmith v. Hong derivative case. The Companyubh its Board of Directors, has evaluated
and rejected this request.

Patent Claims

In May 2008, the Company initiated discaasiwith Google, Inc. regarding the Company's cidinat Google has infringed on a U.S.
Patent assigned to the Company relating generllsahk multiplication" in memory modules. On Aug29, 2008, Google filed a declaratory
judgment lawsuit against the Company in Unitedet@istrict Court for the Northern District of Cfalinia, seeking a declaration that Goa
did not infringe on the Company's patent, and tihetCompany's patent is invalid. Google is not segkny monetary damages. On
November 18, 2008, the Company filed a countercfaininfringement of the patent by Google. The Campexpects to vigorously pursue
claim against Google and to vigorously defend agjaBoogle's claim of invalidity.
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On March 17, 2009, the Company filed a claimp for patent infringement against MetaRAM, Ifar. its infringement of one of the
Company's patents. On March 26, 2009 MetaRAM fdammplaint against the Company for patent infimget. The Company expects to
vigorously pursue its claim against MetaRAM andigorously defend against MetaRAM's separate claim.

Other Contingent Obligations

During its normal course of business, tlhenPany has made certain indemnities, commitmerdsyaarantees under which it may be
required to make payments in relation to certangactions. These include (i) intellectual propertiemnities to the Company's customers and
licensees in connection with the use, sales atidese of Company products; (i) indemnities toders and service providers pertaining to
claims based on the Company's negligence or wiltfisikonduct; (i) indemnities involving the accayeof representations and warranties in
certain contracts; (iv) indemnities to directorsl afficers of the Company to the maximum extentipged under the laws of the State of
Delaware; and (v) certain real estate leases, unbieh the Company may be required to indemnifypprty owners for environmental and
other liabilities, and other claims arising frone tBompany's use of the applicable premises. Thegidarof these indemnities, commitments
and guarantees varies and, in certain cases, magléknite. The majority of these indemnities, goitments and guarantees do not provide
any limitation of the maximum potential for futypayments the Company could be obligated to malksoHically, the Company has not been
obligated to make significant payments for thed@gations, and no liabilities have been recordedfiese indemnities, commitments and
guarantees in the accompanying consolidated bakirests.

Note 11—Related Party Transactions

In February 2003, the Company loaned anleyap $19,900 to exercise a portion of his thertacesommon stock options. This full
recourse note bore interest at a rate of 7% payabieally, and was due on February 17, 2008. A3esgember 31, 2005 the amount of
outstanding principal and accrued and unpaid isteye this note was approximately $24,000, andreesrded as a reduction of stockholders'
equity in the consolidated balance sheet. In Deeer2006, the employee repaid approximately $23d#@Be note, and thus as of
December 30, 2006, the remaining amount outstandlagyapproximately $1,000, which was recorded@slaction of stockholders' equity in
the consolidated balance sheet. In May 2007, tmairgng $1,000 was repaid in full. Interest incoimethe year ended December 29, 2007
not significant.

Note 12—Stockholders' Equity
Serial Preferred Stock

At the completion of the IPO the Companthauzed 10,000,000 shares of Serial PreferredkSteith a par value of $0.001 per share.
shares were outstanding at January 3, 2009 or Cezre?9, 2007.
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Common Stock Options

In November 2000, the Company adopted @@ ZEquity Incentive Plan (the "2000 Plan") an®ictober 2006, the Company adopted the
2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2006 Plan"), undhich direct stock awards or options to acquirarel of the Company's common stock
be granted to employees and nonemployees of Néthst 2000 Plan was administered by the Board cdddrs or a committee thereof, and
the 2006 Plan is administered by the Compensatmnriittee of the Board of Directors. The 2000 Plampgtted the issuance of up to
5,750,000 shares of the Company's common stockctfé as of the IPO, no further grants may be mauker the 2000 Plan. The 2006 Plan
permits the issuance of a maximum of 500,000 slafresmmon stock, automatically increasing on it flay of each calendar year
beginning on or after January 1, 2007 by the leské) 500,000 shares or (i) such smaller numtifeshares as may be determined by the
Company's Board of Directors prior to that dateti@ys granted under the 2000 Plan and 2006 Plamgpily vest at a rate of at least 25% per
year over four years and expire 10 years from #te df grant

A summary of the Company's common stoclkoopdctivity under the 2000 Plan and 2006 Planrdythe period from December 31, 2006
to January 3, 2009 is presented below:

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Number of Exercise Intrinsic
Shares Price Life Value
(in thousands (in thousands
(in years)
Options outstandir—December 31, 200 3,31¢ 3.34
Options grante: 1,16 3.1t
Options exercise (297) 1.62
Options cancelle (544) 5.44
Options outstandir—December 29, 200 3,74¢ 3.0¢
Options grante: 1,14¢ 1.27
Options exercise — —
Options cancelle (610C) 2.6¢
Options outstandir—January 3, 200 4281 $ 2.64 6.8 $ 11t
Options exercisab—January 3, 200 2,171 $ 2.1z 52 & 111
Options expected to ve—January 3, 200 183t $ 3.64 8€ $ 3
Options available for grant under the 2006 Plafaauary 3, 20( 531
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The following table summarizes informatayout stock options outstanding and exercisablaratary 3, 2009:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted Weighted

Remaining
Contractual Average Average
Number of Exercise Number of Exercise
Range of Exercise Price shares Life Price shares Price

(in thousands’ (in thousands

(in years)
$0.20- $0.31 1,231 43 $ 0.2Z 1,011 $ 0.2C
$0.59- $1.25 18¢ 82 $ 0.7¢ 54 ¢$ 1.2t
$1.29- $1.95 884 89 $ 1.64 162 $ 1.7¢
$2.05- $3.20 98¢ 74 $ 254 57¢ $ 2.5¢
$3.26- $6.94 68 83 $ 6.3t 19 $ 6.0
$7.00- $8.45 92: 76 $ 7.04 34¢  $ 7.02
4,281 6.9 $ 2.64 2,171 $ 2.1z

The following table presents the weightedrage assumptions used to estimate the per skiarafues of common stock options granted
by the Company, along with certain other pertiriefdrmation:

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007
Expected term (in year 5.4 5.4
Expected volatility 80% 80%
Risk-free interest rat 2.86% 4.4%2%

Expected dividend — —
Weighte-average grant date fair value perst $ 0.8¢ $ 2.1¢
Intrinsic value of options exercised (in thousar $ — $ 81<
Fair value of options vested (in thousan $ 1277 $ 1,181

The intrinsic value of common stock opti@xercised represents the difference between thenfaket value of the Company's common
stock on the date of exercise and the exercise pfieach option.

Upon the exercise of common stock optitims,Company issues new shares from its authorizas.

At January 3, 2009, the amount of uneastedk-based compensation currently estimated &xpensed from fiscal 2009 through 2012
related to unvested common stock options is appratély $2.5 million, net of estimated forfeiturd@he weighted-average period over which
the unearned stock-based compensation is expectedrecognized is approximately 2.0 years. Ifdtege any modifications or cancellations
of the underlying unvested common stock options,Gbmpany may be
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required to accelerate, increase or cancel anyinémgaunearned stock-based compensation expentgerstock-based compensation expense
and unearned stock-based compensation will incrieethes extent that the Company grants additiooairaon stock options or other stock-
based awards.

Warrants

The Company has issued warrants to purcstzaes of its common stock to non-employees fivices rendered or to be rendered in the
future. Such warrants are issued outside of th® Z8n and 2006 Plan. A summary of the warranviggtiluring the period from
December 31, 2006 to January 3, 2009 is preseieiesvb

Weighted-
Weighted- Average
Remaining
Average Contractual Aggregate
Number of Exercise Intrinsic
Shares Price Life Value
(in thousands’ (in thousands
(in years)
Warrants outstandi—December 31, 20( 39¢ $ 1.3t
Warrants grante — —
Warrants exercise (23) 1.2t
Warrants cancelle (57 3.84
Warrants outstandi—December 29, 20( 31¢ 1.01
Warrants grante — —
Warrants exercise (97) 1.0C
Warrants cancelle (203) 1.0C
Warrants outstandi—January 3, 200 18 $ 1.2t 4C $ —
Warrants exercisat—January 3, 200 18

In February 2008, certain warrant holdesereised 300,000 warrants to purchase shares @dhgany's common stock, whereby the
Company issued approximately 97,000 shares of canstozk pursuant to a net issue election and éffdgtreceived approximately 203,000

shares back from the warrant holders as consideratilieu of cash for the exercised warrants. Z6&,000 shares were forfeited on the
exercise date.

Upon the exercise of warrants, the Compssiyes new shares from its authorized shares.

Note 14—401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) defined darton plan. Employees are eligible to participiat¢his plan provided they are employed
full-time and have reached 21 years of age. Ppditts may make pre-tax contributions to the pldojesiti to a statutorily prescribed annual
limit. Each participant is fully vested in his cerhcontributions on the contributions and investt@amnings. The Company may make matc
contributions on the contributions of a participanta discretionary basis. In fiscal 2007, the Canypadopted a limited matching contribution
policy and made approximately $0.1 million in cdmitions to participants in this plan in each & trears ended January 3, 2009 and
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December 29, 2007. Effective January 2009, the Goyelected to discontinue matching contributions.
Note 15—Major Customers and Suppliers

The Company's product sales have histdyibalen concentrated in a small number of custonTdrs following table sets forth sales to
customers comprising 10% or more of the Companya tevenues as follows:

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢
2009 2007
Customer:
Dell 58% 55%
Hewlett Packart 32% 23%

The Company's accounts receivable are corated with two customers at January 3, 2009 gating approximately 51% and 19%;
two customers at December 29, 2007, representipgprimately 66% and 23% of aggregate gross reckagald significant reduction in sales
to, or the inability to collect receivables fromsignificant customer could have a material advamggct on the Company.

The Company's purchases have historicagnlzoncentrated in a small number of suppliers.fétiowing table sets forth purchases from
suppliers comprising 10% or more of the Comparota fpurchases as follows:

Year Ended
January 3, December 2¢

2009 2007
Supplier:
A * 14%
B 26% *
C 11% *
D * 28%
E 13% 11%
* less than 10% of total purchases

While the Company believes alternative $ieppcould be utilized, any inability to obtainmmponents or products in the amounts needed
on a timely basis or at commercially reasonablegsricould result in delays in product introductiangerruption in product shipments or
increases in product costs, which could have anmaatelverse effect on the Company.
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The Company operates in one reportable eagrthe design and manufacture of high-performanemory subsystems for the server,
high-performance computing and communications rmarkene Company evaluates financial performanca company-wide basis.

To date, a majority of the Company's in&ional sales relate to shipments of productsstt)i. customers' international manufacturing
sites or third-party hubs. Net sales derived fréwipments to international destinations, primardyAsia (including foreign subsidiaries of
customers that are headquartered in the U.S.esepted approximately 55% and 79% of the Compawey'sales in fiscal 2008 and 2007,
respectively. All of the Company's net sales t@dwtve been denominated in U.S. dollars.

As of January 3, 2009, approximately $4ilian of the Company's net long-lived assets wierated outside the United States, primarily
in the PRC.
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EXHIBIT 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES

Each of the following is a wholly ownedefit subsidiary of Netlist, Inc.:

Entity Name Jurisdiction of Organization
Netlist Technology Texas, L.F Texas
Netlist Electronics (Suzhou) Co., L People's Republic of Chi

Netlist HK Limited Hong Kong
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EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by refeesincRegistration Statements Nos. 333-139435, 3341 and 333-146192 on FornB8%{f oul
report dated March 30, 2009, relating to the cddatgd financial statements of Netlist, Inc. andssdiaries (which report expresses an
unqualified opinion and includes an explanatoryagaaph relating to the adoption of FASB InterpietaNo. 48,Accounting for Uncertainty
Income Taxe—an Interpretation of FASB Statement }08ppearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-KNetlist, Inc. for the year ended
January 3, 20009.

/s KMJ CORBIN & COMPANY LLP
Costa Mesa, California
March 30, 2009
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EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Chun K. Hong, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K for the fiscal year ended January ®926f Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation

(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyinfjagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlpauédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control oveariicial reporting, or caused such internal coragxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of tegiBrant's disclosure controls and procedurepagskented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any changthe Registrant's internal control over financggdorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigs fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahmeport) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the R&gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The Registrant's other certifyin§iagfr and | have disclosed, based on our most teseiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétadnmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{orspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and miatkweaknesses in the design or operation of iatlecontrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize amebrt financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiattinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

March 30, 2009 /s/ CHUN K. HONG

Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairmaihef Board (Principal Executive Office
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13A-14 OF THE SECURI TIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Gail Itow, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this Annual Repartrmrm 10-K for the fiscal year ended January ®926f Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation
(the "Registrant™);

2. Based on my knowledge, this repodsdnot contain any untrue statement of a mat@galor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the finansiatements, and other financial information ineltiéh this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the Registrant as of, andli@ periods presented in this report;

4. The Registrant's other certifyinfjagr and | are responsible for establishing anéhtaaing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Registrant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controlspandedures, or caused such disclosure controlpauédures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the Registrant, including its consolidhseibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control oveariicial reporting, or caused such internal coragxar financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repogiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of tegiBrant's disclosure controls and procedurepagskented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures, as of the end of the period cougredis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any changthe Registrant's internal control over financggdorting that occurred during the
Registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the Regigs fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an ahmeport) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the R&gant's internal control over financial reportiagd

5. The Registrant's other certifyin§iagfr and | have disclosed, based on our most teseiuation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant's auditors and thétadnmittee of the Registrant's board of direc{orspersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and miatkweaknesses in the design or operation of iatlecontrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Regid's ability to record, process, summarize amebrt financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not materiattinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the Registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

March 30, 2009 /sl GAIL ITOW

Gail Itow
Vice President and Chief Financial Offic

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report onriRdt0-K of Netlist, Inc., a Delaware corporation €tst") for the fiscal year ended January 3,
2009, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @asion on March 30, 2009 (the "Report"), Chun knl, president, chief executive offi
and chairman of the board of Netlist, and Gail ltewe president and chief financial officer of Net each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Segi6rof the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, sodriher knowledge:

(1) the Report fully complies with thejudrements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SemsiExchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Reegairly presents, in all material respects, timafcial condition and results of operations

of Netlist.
March 30, 200¢ /s/ CHUN K. HONG
Chun K. Hong
President, Chief Executive Officer and ChairmathefBoard (Principal Executive Office
March 30, 2009 /s/ GAIL ITOW

Gail Itow
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)
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